Polyethylene glycol (PEG) induced water stress alters

the physiological and molecular responses of chia plants



Sinazo Bali

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of *Magister Scientiae* in the department of Biotechnology, University of the Western Cape

Supervisor: Dr Ashwil Klein

December 2017

Polyethylene glycol (PEG) induced water stress alters the

physiological and molecular responses of Chia plants

Sinazo Bali

KEYWORDS

Ascorbate peroxidase

Catalase

Drought

Drought stress

Glutathione reductase

Lipid peroxidation

PEG-induced water stress

Polyethylene glycol

Pseudocereals

Reactive oxygen species

Superoxide dismutase

Water stress



UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE

ABSTRACT

Polyethylene glycol (PEG) induced water stress alters the physiological and molecular responses of Chia plants

Sinazo Bali

M.Sc Thesis, Department of Biotechnology, University of the Western Cape

Water deficit is known to be one of the most detrimental environmental factors to affect crop production and growth in South Africa. This factor has become more apparent with increasing cases of drought in the country. It was therefore important in this study to explore an alternative food crop that encompasses all the nutritional benefits and one that is able to grow optimally in arid and semiarid environmental conditions. Chia is native to Mexico and it is thus able to grow very well in drought prone areas. However, there is very limited research on the agronomical responses of chia to environmental stresses. Therefore, study aims to elucidate the influence of PEG-induced water stress on the physiological and molecular responses of chia. The study explored the impact of increasing concentrations of PEG 8000 (0%, 5%, 10% and 20%) on the seed germination, the growth parameters, ROS accumulation and the antioxidant capacity of chia plants. The results obtained in this study showed that with increasing PEG 8000 concentrations germination was significantly reduced. The decrease in water potential with increasing PEG concentrations reduced

ii

physiological parameters including root, shoot length and plant biomass. Photosynthetic metabolism was compromised due to a reduction in water potential associated with increasing PEG concentrations. PEG-induced water stress enhanced ROS accumulation in chia leaves, with the highest accumulation observed in higher concentrations (10% and 20%). The increase in ROS molecules (as seen for superoxide and hydrogen peroxide) resulted in enhanced oxidative damage manifested as increase lipid peroxidation and ultimately cellular death. ROS scavenging antioxidant enzyme activities (ascorbate peroxidise and superoxide dismutase) were differentially regulated in response to PEG 8000 treatment. Superoxide dismutase (SOD) activity was upregulated at lower PEG THE REPORT concentrations (5% and 20%), whereas a significant reduction was observed at higher concentrations (20%). Contrasting results were observed for hydrogen peroxide metabolising enzymes (ascorbate peroxidase; APX, catalase; CAT and WESTERN glutathione reductase; GR) to different treatments of PEG. The results suggest that chia can withstand low concentrations of PEG but compromised when concentrations exceed 10%.

December 2017

DECLARATION

I declare that "Polyethylene glycol (PEG) induced water stress alters the physiological and molecular responses of chia plants" is my own work, that has not been submitted for any degree or examination in any other university, and that all sources I have used or quoted have been indicated and acknowledged by complete references.

Sinazo Bali

December 2017



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

- Firstly, I would like to thank **God**, through the toughest times when I felt like I could not make it, it was through Him that I found the perseverance to carry on.
- Thank you to my **supervisor**, **Dr Ashwil Klein (PhD)**. Your guidance and support has helped me through the completion of this task. I am grateful for your endless commitment. Thank you for your patience through everything.
- I would like to extend my complete to the entire **Plant Omics Laboratory** for all the constructive criticism especially **Dr Lizex H.H Hüsselmann** for his immediate assistance.

Thank you to my colleagues and **friends (Pateka Menzi and Mihlali Badiwe) WESTERN CAPE** for the support and laughs, as special thank you to **Mbukeni Andrew Nkomo** for the guidance and for being my mentor, I appreciate all the help and knowledge that you have driven in me.

To my family, **Ntombomzi Simons (mother)**, **Karel Simons (Father)** and **Aimè Simons (sister)**, you have been my greatest supporters and cheerleaders. There are absolutely no words that can explain how much you all mean to me. You have been constantly there to motivate me throughout everything. Thank you to my late Grandparents **Nobesuthu Buyani** and **Luvo Buyani**, I am where I am because of the values that you have instilled in me, I will forever be grateful.

A special thanks to my aunts **Peggy** and **Mpumi Buyani**, you are my second parents and are always there when I need to vent, thank for the advice and always bring me back to my sanity. Thank you to the rest of my family, for always showing interest and believing in me.



UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE

LIST OF ABBREVIATION

ANOVA	analysis of variance
ΑΡΧ	ascorbate peroxidise
BSA	bovine serum albumin
CAT	catalase
Cu/Zn – SOD	copper zinc superoxide dismutase
EDTA	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
Fe – SOD	iron superoxide dismutase
GR	glutathione reductase
GSH	reduced glutathione
GSSG	oxidised glutathione
IDV	integrated density value
MDA	malondialdehyde
Mn – SOD	manganese superoxide dismutase
NADPH	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NBT	nitrotetrazolium blue chloride
PAGE	polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PVP	polyvinylpyrrolidone
ROS	reactive oxygen species
SOD	superoxide dismutase
ТВА	thiobarbituric acid
ТСА	trichloroacetic acid
TEMED	N,N,N',N tetramethylethylenediamine

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1: Dimensions of food security and their functions4
Figure 1.2: Poverty headcount by age in South Africa6
Figure 1.3: Salvia hispanica (chia) plant with purple flowers and broad leaves10
Figure 1.4: Morphology of chia seeds11
Figure 1.5: Nutritional value and benefits of chiacompared to other food
crops12
Figure 1.6: Role of abiotic stress in plants15
Figure 1.7: The electron structures of selected ROS molecules and their
respective detoxifying enzymes
WESTERN CAPE Figure 3.1: Determination of water potential of different PEG 8000
treatments
Figure 3.2: The influence of PEG-induced water stress on the rate of seed
germination45
Figure 3.3: The influence of PEG-induced water stress on the growth
parameters of chia plants47
Figure 3.4: The effect of PEG-induced water stress on the shoot biomass of
chia plants48



UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE

KEYWORDSi
ABSTRACTii
DECLARATIONiv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSv
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONvii
LIST OF FIGURES viii
CHAPTER 11
LITERATURE REVIEW
1.1 Introduction
1.2 Food security
1.3 Pseudocereals as alternative food crops
1.4 The importance of chia as an alternative food crop9
1.4.1 Nutritional composition of <i>Salvia hispanica</i> 10
1.4.2 Cultivating of chia plants13
1.5 Effects of abiotic stresses on plants14
1.5.1 Water stress in plants15
1.5.2 Polyethylene glycol induced water stress in plants
1.6 The role of stress-induced ROS production in plants
1.6.1 The role of superoxide in plants under stress

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.6.2	The role of hydrogen peroxide in plants18
1.6.3	Lipid peroxidation and its detrimental effects in plants20
1.7	The significant role of antioxidant enzymes in plants under stress21
1.7.1	Superoxide dismutase in regulating abiotic stress in plants22
1.7.2	Catalase (CAT)23
1.7.4	Non-enzymatic detoxification mechanisms in plants24
JUSTIF	ICATION
AIMS	AND OBJECTIVES OF STUDY28
CHAPTER 2	
MATE	RIALS AND METHODS
2.1	Chemical reagents and suppliers29
2.2	WESTERN CAPE Seed germination
2.3	Plant growth and treatments31
2.4	Measuring of PEG 8000 water potential32
2.5	Analysis of physiological parameters32
2.6	Leaf chlorophyll content
2.7	Measurement of cell death (Evans Blue uptake assay)
2.8	Superoxide content
2.9	Protein extraction for biochemical analysis
2.10	Measurement of the H ₂ O ₂ content assay35

2.11	Estimation of lipid peroxidation35	
2.12	Determination of total superoxide dismutase (SOD) activity	
2.13	Ascorbate peroxidase total activity	
2.14	Catalase activity total activity37	
2.15	Glutathione reductase total activity	
2.16	Detection of ROS detoxifying antioxidant isoforms	
2.16.1	Superoxide dismutase isoforms	
2.16.2	Ascorbate peroxidase isoforms	
2.16.3	Catalase isoforms	
2.16.4	Glutathione reductase isoforms	
2.17	Densitometry analysis of ROS scavenging enzymes	
2.18	WESTERN CAPE Statistical analysis	
CHAPTER 341		
PEG- I	NDUCED WATER STRESS ALTERS THE PHYSIOLOGICAL RESPONSES OF	
CHIA PLANTS41		
3.1	Introduction41	
3.2	Results	
3.2.1	Water stress influences the rate of germination43	
3.2.2	The effect of PEG-induced water stress on the growth	
param	eters of chia plants45	

3.2.3	The influence of PEG-induced water stress on chia biomass47
3.2.4	PEG-induced water stress alters photosynthetic pigments in chia
plants	49
3.3	Discussion
3.3.1	Increasing PEG concentrations decrease germination rate51
3.3.2	Impact of PEG- induced water stress on the physiological
respon	ses of chia52
3.3.3	Reduction in chlorophyll content with an increase in PEG-induced
water	stress
СНАРТ	ER 4
WATE	R STRESS MODULATES THE ACCUMULATION ROS AND ALTERS
ANTIO	XIDANT CAPACITY IN CHIA
4.1	Introduction55
4.2	Results
4.2.1	Stress-induced ROS accumulation57
4.2.1	PEG-induced water stress enhanced oxidative stress in chia
	plants
4.2.2	PEG-induced water stress modulates antioxidant capacity in chia
plants	60
4.3	Discussion70

4.3.1	PEG- induced water stress influences the ROS accumulation and	
oxidative d	amage	70
4.3.2	Water stress modulates antioxidant enzymatic activity in chia	
plants	73	
CONCLUSIC	ON AND FUTURE REMARKS	80
REFERENCE	-S	83



UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE

CHAPTER 1 LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1 Introduction

Environmental stress conditions in plants can be defined as changes in growth and developmental conditions, which occur within the plants natural habitat, thus leading to the alteration or disruption of the plants metabolic homeostasis (Shulaev *et al.*, 2008). These environmental stresses include both abiotic and biotic factors. However, water deficit otherwise termed as drought stress, remains one of the most fundamental stresses that are currently affecting plant growth and development in South Africa (van der Berg and Zeng, 2006). Constant exposure to drought stress, results in physiological and molecular alterations in plants (Kaur and Gupta, 2005). WESTERN CAPE

Furthermore, when plants are continuously exposed to such unfavourable conditions, the result is an imbalance between the reactive oxygen species (ROS) accumulation and alteration of the ROS scavenging antioxidant capacity (Gill and Tuteja, 2010; Junglee *et al.*, 2014). The imbalance occurs when there is an excessive accumulation of the ROS molecules, thus leading to the inability of the ROS scavenging antioxidants to detoxify the toxic ROS radicals and non-radicals (Gill and Tuteja, 2010). This is due to the fact that

ROS molecules production surpasses the ability of their 'protective defence mechanisms' capacity to detoxify them.

Currently, there has been an increase in abiotic factors such as water stress which is a consequence of climatic changes in the environment (Ramakrishna and Ravishankar, 2013). Water stress encompass drought, the accumulation of salts in soils and other factors that lead to water deficit in plants (Le Gall *et al.*, 2015; van der Berg and Zeng, 2006). These osmotic stresses impact the agricultural development and production which thus threatens food security. Therefore, it is vital that alternative food crops such as pseudocereals, which encompass high nutritional value and are found to grow optimally in these arid environments, are explored. One of the most nutritional pseudocereals, which is considered a superfood and has recently increased commercially, is *Salvia hispanica* commonly known as chia (Daniells, 2013). Given the absence of comprehensive information in the public domain regarding chia's interactions with abiotic/biotic stress conditions, it is imperative to explore these aspects.

This review will focus on the challenges associate with food security and the impact of water stress conditions such as drought on sustainable food security. This review will further explore the importance of investigating alternative food crops such as pseudocereals with high nutritional value, which are able to adapt to scarce arid environments. Finally, this review will explore the effects of water stress on the physiological and molecular parameters in plants as a whole.

1.2 Food security

Food security can be defined as the state at which all people of a particular region have access to sufficient, safe and nutritional food, needed to maintain a healthy lifestyle (Maxwell, 1996; Slama, 2015). The definition of a holistic food secure population comprises of four key dimensions which include: food utilisation, food accessibility, food sustainability and the availability of food (Schmidhuder and Tubiello, 2007; Tibuello *et al.*, 2007). Figure 1.1 illustrates how these four dimensions are the building blocks for the framework of food security, their respective functions and what influences these dimensions (Klennert, 2009). Ideally, these dimensions should be maintained at all times for a community to be considered food secure. However, there are multiple factors that play a key role in limiting food security, thus leading to food insecure communities, especially in developing countries.



Figure 1.1: Dimensions of food security and their functions. Adapted from FOA 2005 and revised by Klennert, 2009.



Agricultural factors play a critical role in maintaining the status of food security (Abdu-Radeem and Worth, 2011). This includes crop-based plants, which encompass legumes, cereal and pseudocereal crops. Cereals and pseudocereals have served as food supply to humans and are also utilised as animal feed for centuries (Mergoum *et al.*, 2009). Thus, these crop plants have been exploited for their nutritional and medicinal properties (Mohammad and Amusa, 2005). Consequently, food crops serve as an important factor in maintaining food security. However, changes in climatic conditions, such as; accumulation of salts, heavy metal, and increase in fungal and bacterial pathogens affect the state of food security and thus leading to a state of food insecurity (Ali *et al.*, 2017; Bwalya, 2013; Masipa, 2017).

Food insecurity is exponentially increasing and this is more prominent in developing countries (Igram et al., 2012; Masipa, 2017). Despite advances made over the past 10 years, there is an increase in household food insecurity (Igram et al., 2012; van der Berg, 2006). The country is still plagued with high unemployment and poverty which further contributes to food insecurity (Binswanger-Mkhize, 2009; McMichael, 2000). Food insecurity in South Africa greatly affects the low income households, especially individuals living in rural areas and informal settlements of townships, who solely dependent on the government grant system (Oldewage-Theron et al., 2006; Sasson, 201; Naicker et al., 2015). Moreover, South Africa has been deemed to be food secure. However, data released by STATS SA (2017) suggested that the prevalence of poverty by headcount has increased since 2011 (Figure 1.2). Furthermore, Drimie and McLachlan (2013) amended the WESTERN CAPE definition of the state of food security in South Africa to accommodate regions that still remain food insecure. Thus illustrating that South Africa is not a food secure nation and further research needs to be implemented to improve the state of food security in the country.



Figure 1.2: Poverty headcount by age in South Africa adopted from a study showing poverty trends in South Africa between 2006 and 2015 http://www.statssa.gov.za/?p=10341.

South Africa is an exponentially fast growing population, thus maintaining and improving the food security proves to be rather challenging. Various abiotic and biotic stress conditions associated with climate change have negatively affected food security in South Africa and globally (Strange and Scott, 2005; Reynolds *et al.*, 2015. These stress conditions limit agricultural growth and production and ultimately reduce food security (Godfrey *et al.*, 2005; Gregory *et al.*, 2010; Knox *et al.*, 2012). One of the most intricate aspects that have major impact on food insecurity in terms of agriculture is abiotic stresses such as drought (Alemayehu *et al.*, 2015; Gregory *et al.*, 2017). With low rainfall and an increase in temperatures, the country is experiencing drought, thus putting the economical and the agricultural sectors at a drawback, which further makes food security vulnerable (Barrett, 2010). At present, global crop production is dependent on nine crops to supply more than 75% of the global plant originating energy. Furthermore, only three staple cereals, wheat, rice and maize contribute more than half of the total food production (FAO, 2015; Nuss 2012,). The production levels of the major staple food crops are not sufficient to fulfil the projected global food requirements (Godfrey, 2014). Efforts placed on maximising the potential of yields of these main staple crops are deemed to have reached a plateau, whereby yield increases are below what is actually needed (FOA, 2015; Godfrey, 2014; Tilman *et al.*, 2001). Currently, plant science research is largely focused on major crops worldwide, whereas minor crops that encompass unique advantages for issues concerning global food security and the mitigation of climate changes are not the main focus.

There are a variety of plants which can potentially be used for human consumption and encompass a variety of nutritional benefit (Gordon, 2006). However, very few of these crop plants are being used. The focus tends to be on the three major cereal crops that are most predominantly used globally which include; maize (*Zea mays*), wheat (*Triticum aestivum* and other wheat species) and rice (*Oryza sativa*) (Gordan, 2006; Berghofer and Schoenlencher, 2012). However, this tendency on the reliance on these cereals cannot be seen as positive for many reasons including the sensitivity

of many of these cereal crops to water deficit conditions, which had negative impacts on food security (Pimintel *et al.*, 2017; Valcárcel-Yamani *et al.*, 2012). However, there are other alternative food crops (deemed as forgotten crops) that have not been extensively studied and these include pseudocereal crops (Fita *et al.*, 2015; Valcárcel-Yamani *et al.*, 2012; Williams *et al.*, 2002).

1.3 Pseudocereals as alternative food crops

Pseudocereals are dicotyledonous species that are not closely related to each other or to monocotyledonous cereal species (Alvarez-Jubete *et al.*, 2010; Valcárcel-Yamani *et al.*, 2012). The name pseudocereal derives from their production of small grain-like seeds that resemble in function and composition those of cereals (also referred to as grasses) (Gordan, 2006; Jakop *et al.*, 2009). This group comprises three crops; amaranth spp, quinoa and buckwheat (Valcárcel-Yamani *et al.*, 2012). They are known to be evolutionary distinct from cereal crops, however, they produce grains that are used in the same manner as for cereal crops (Berti *et al.*, 2005; Tang *et al.*, 2016). Pseudocereals contain health and nutritional benefits that are significantly greater compared to those of cereals, as they contain a higher nutrition profile and are thus classified as superfoods (Galoa *et al.*, 2015, Jubete *et al.*, 2010). With increasing reports on celiac disease (CD) (a glutenbased disorder due to sensitivity) there is a demand for foods that do not contain these hyper allergens (Tang *et al.*, 2016). Therefore, plant science research studies have also shown an interest in the gluten- free crops. Three of the most extensively studied pseudocereals include quinoa (*Chenopodium quinoa*), buckwheat (*Fagipyrum escelentum and F. tartaricum*) and amarantus (*Amarantus sp.*) (Jubete *et al.*, 2010). However, a fourth pseudocereal crop namely chia (*Salvia hispanica* L.) has entered the fray although limited research on this crop have been performed.

1.4 The importance of chia as an alternative food crop

Chia (*Salvia hispanica* L.), is a pseudocereal plant that is a member of the *Labiatae* (mint) family (Ali *et al.*, 2012). The physiological structure of the plant consists of broad leaves and produces purple and white flowers (Figure 1.3) (Bueno *et al.*, 2012). The plant contains both black and white seeds, produced by the same plant, with the black seeds being the most dominant in terms of quantity (Ayerza and Coates, 2011). Chai is an annual crop that it takes a year to complete its biological lifecycle (Ayezra *et al.*, 1993; Ali *et al.*, 2012,).

Furthermore, this plant is native to southern and central Mexico and Guatemala (Ixtiana et al., 2008). The history of chia dates back to its native land of South America in pre-Columbian and Aztec eras, where it was locally utilised for its medicinal purposes (Ali, *et al*, 2012). One of the key hallmarks of chia is the seeds and their oil content that allows it to have multiple health

and nutritional benefits (although the entire plant can be consumed and the stems and roots can be used as biomass for biofuel production). To add, the seeds contain a variety of active ingredients including essential fatty acids and phenolic compounds that have been identified, which contribute its health benefits (Ali *et al.*, 2012; Ayezra, 2016).



Figure 1.3: *Salvia hispanica* (chia) plant with purple flowers and broad leaves: adopted from di Sapio et al., (2009).

1.4.1 Nutritional composition of *Salvia hispanica*

Chia seeds (Figure 1.4) are composed of multiple nutritionally important polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUSFA) (Ayezra and Coates, 2005; Ali *et al.*,

2012). Comprising of approximately 25 to 40% oil content, of which 60% and 20% is w-3 alpha linolenic and w-6 alpha linoleic acids respectively (Ali *et al.*, 2012). These are both essential fatty acids that cannot be synthesized artificially and are needed by the human body. The amount of the essential fatty acids that are found in the chia are found to be more superior than that of those found in most true cereals such as maize and sorghum combined (Poudyal *et al.*, 2012, Ayezra, 2016).



Figure 1.4: Morphology of chia seeds. The image was adopted from Lin et al., (1994).

Due to the vast health and medicinal properties found in chia seeds, it has been shown to lower the triglycerides (TG) and cholesterol levels, which in turn lowers the risk of cardiovascular related diseases and lowers blood pressure (Heuer *et al.*, 2002; Ali *et al.*, 2012). According to Ayerza and Coates (2012) and Fernandez *et al.*, (2014) the effects of chia seed feeding on rat plasma, indicated that serum TG and low density lipoprotein (LDL) were notably decreased and high density lipoprotein and the ω -3 polyunsaturated fatty acids where increased (Ixtaina, 2008).

Several crop seeds including sunflower seeds, rapeseed, soybean seed, and evening primrose are commercially recognised as being good sources of oil for dietary needs (Ayezra, 1994). However, Antruejo *et al.* (2011) conducted a comparative study that proved chia seeds has superior nutritive qualities to other major crops (Figure 1.5) and that there is a potential market for chia in South Africa.



Figure 1.5: Nutritional value and benefits of chia compared to other food crops. Image was adopted from: <u>http://www.buychia seeds.info/html/chia_seeds_benefits.html</u>.

1.4.2 Cultivating of chia plants

Chia has recently gained its popularity by becoming one of the main oil sources that contains high levels of polyunsaturated fatty acids. This crop has now been widely cultivated and commercialised for its ω -3 alpha linolenic acids content and antioxidant properties (Ayerza, 2005). Its cultivation today is not only limited to South America but has extended to Bolivia, Australia, Ecuador, Italy and Southern Asia (Joseph, 2004; Crawford *et al.*, 2012; de Freista *et al.*, 2016). Chia production is a major contributor to the Argentine economy, accounting for 24% of the agricultural industry (Ayerza, 2016). In 2008 Argentina contributed approximately 4% of the world grain production (Ayerza, 2016). Although it is native to Mexico, Australia is currently the largest producers of chia seeds (Crawford *et al.*, 2016; Timilsena, 2016,).

WESTERN CAPE

Therefore, there is a need to establish a suitable crop that can be deemed to be drought tolerant and is able to withstand such environments outside of the scope of cereals, but also pseudocereals. The promotion of the consumption and cultivation of chia could be of value due to its unique nutrient composition and its inherited tolerance to drought and other stress factors. Chia has been deemed to be drought tolerant, although there is lack of research on the physiological and molecular responses of this crop to drought stress.

1.5 Effects of abiotic stresses on plants

Plants are constantly faced with environmental challenges such as abiotic stresses, which lead to strenuous conditions on their metabolic functioning, frequently impaired growth and development (Mourato *et al.*, 2012). The end result is the drastic reduction in yields, which further affects the world food supply (Tester and Bacic, 2005). Furthermore, a demonstration of the reduction in the cereal production has been projected by about 2% in Africa as a result of climate changes (van der Berg and Zeng, 2006). The consequence of these climate conditions leads to the generation of abiotic stresses such as water stress (Ngara, 2009).

The impact of these abiotic stresses in plants leads to the production of reactive oxygen species in plants. Under normal conditions these oxygen molecules act as signalling molecules of various biochemical pathways (Klein *et al.*, 2012, Tuteja and Gill, 2010). However, if not regulated these molecules lead to oxidative stress and ultimate cellular death as demonstrated in Figure 1.6 (Mahaja and Tuteja, 2012).



Figure 1.6: Role of abiotic stress in plants. Abiotic stress such as water stress induces enhanced ROS accumulation, which leads to oxidative damage and ultimately programmed cell death. Image adopted from Mahaja and Tuteja, (2012).



1.5.1 Water stress in plants ERN CAPE

Water is an essential requirement that is needed throughout all forms of life (Xiong *et al.*, 2002). For vegetative growth of plants to occur, there needs to be a certain degree of water status (Hirt and Shinozaki, 2003; Szilgyi, 2003). The water status can be measured as the free energy state of water molecules including water potential (Jones, 2006). In a plant cell, the water potential consists mainly of the osmotic potential and pressure (Fricke 1997; Nonami, 1998). Changes in the water potentials in the environment can impose stress to plants, thus disrupting the normal metabolic activities. During water stress conditions, plants will tend to water lose to the external

environment, this leads to a reduction in turgor pressure (Skirycz and Inzé, 2010). Water stress in plants can thus be characterised as the turgor pressure loss, a decrease in leaf water potential, stomatal closure, diminishing of cell expansion and growth and alteration of enzymatic activity (Fricke, 1997; Blum 2017).

1.5.2 Polyethylene glycol induced water stress in plants

Osmotic solutions are used to impose water stress in plant related studies, reproducibly under *in vitro* conditions (Pandey and Agarwal, 1998). Polyethylene glycol (PEG) is mainly used for the determination of water deficit stress related information from plants (Turkan *et al.*, 2005; Landjeva *et al.*, 2008). PEG molecules of are non-ionic and virtually impermeable (Hohl and Peter, 1991). Rubinstein (1982) was the first to show that PEG does not enter cell was and the PEG molecules with molecular weights greater than 3000 are not absorbed by the plant (Tarkow *et al.*, 1996). Thus, because PEG does not enter the apoplast, water is withdrawn from the cell and the cell wall. Molecules of PEG 8000 are small enough to influence osmotic potential, but they are also large enough to be absorbed by plants. Therefore, PEG solutions mimic dry soil more closely than solutions of low M_r osmotic, which infiltrate the cell wall with solutes (Verslues *et al.*, 1998).

1.6 The role of stress-induced ROS production in plants

When plants are constantly exposed to harsh environmental conditions due to their immobile nature, this results in the over accumulation of ROS molecules (Gill and Tuteja, 2010; Zorov *et al.*, 2014). These ROS molecules are known to be intermediates that are formed due to the reduction of atmospheric oxygen which comprises of: superoxide radicals, hydroxyl radicals and alkoxyl (Figure 1.7) (Bhattachrjee, 2005; Bashan *et al.*, 2009; Zorov *et al.*, 2014). Under favourable conditions, ROS molecules are produced as byproducts of multiple metabolic pathways that are mainly found in the chloroplast, peroxisomes and the mitochondria (Foyer and Noctor, 2005). Moreover, they are unable to cause damage when they are being scavenged by their antioxidant mechanisms (Colín-González *et al.*, 2012; Das and Roychoudhury, 2014; Kasote *et al.*, 2015). The two main ROS molecules that this study focuses on are superoxide and hydrogen peroxide.



Figure 1.7: The electron structures of selected ROS molecules and their respective detoxifying enzymes. These reactions indicate the unpaired nature of reactive oxygen species. Image was adopted from Bashan *et al.*, 2009.

1.6.1 The role of superoxide in plants under stress

The superoxide radical is produced mainly in the thylakoid membrane during the electron transport chain (Halliwell, 2006). This is the first ROS molecule that is produced under stress conditions and is also one that is moderately reactive, with a half-life of 2-4 microseconds (Gill and Tuteja, 2010; Hossain *et al.*, 2011; Mourant *et al.*, 2012). The consequent production of this radical may trigger the formation of highly reactive ROS (OH and ¹O₂) which can lead to the peroxidation and weakening of the cell structure (Gill and Tuteja, 2010). Due to the fact that this radical cannot diffuse across the cell, mechanisms are therefore needed to be in place to effectively scavenge this radical to hydrogen peroxide and water, which is the function of the SOD (Mourant *et al.*, 2012).

UNIVERSITY of the

1.6.2 The role of hydrogen peroxide in plants

In plants, hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) can either be toxic or protective depending on the quantity levels and its response to the plant antioxidant system, as high levels of H₂O₂ can induce oxidative stress and injury to plant cells (Apel and Hirt, 2004; Miller, 2002). Hydrogen peroxide is known to be the most moderate ROS molecule, as it has a longer half-life (1 ms) compared to other ROS (Gill and Tuteja, 2010). Although moderate and having a much longer half live than other radicals, it has been established that an excess of H₂O₂ in the plant cells leads to the occurrence of oxidative stress (Gill and Tuteja, 2010). The effect of excess H₂O₂ in plant cells may consequently lead to the inactivation of enzymes, by oxidising their thiol groups. Furthermore, H₂O₂ plays a double role in plants; whereby at low concentrations it acts as a signalling molecule that is involved in the regulatory signal that is important in the physiological processes such as plant senescence, stomatal movement as well as growth and development parameters (Noctor *et al.*, 2002, Mittler, 2002). The H₂O₂ molecule as also been shown to act a s a key regulator in a broad range of physiological processes, such as senescence, photosynthesis, stomatal movement as well as cell growth and development of some plants (Peng *et al*, 2005).

The different ROS molecules in plants are known to result in damages to biomolecules, including lipids, proteins and DNA under various environmental stresses, (Noctor and Foyer, 1998). Damages to these compartments can be detrimental to the plants physiological state as well as the molecular damage (Noctor and Foyer, 1998; Bright *et al.*, 2006; Quan *et al.*, 2008). The damage that occurs to lipids, DNA and proteins ultimately results in cell death. The damage to DNA results in various physiological effects to plants, which includes reduced protein synthesis, damage to photosynthetic proteins which thus affects the growth and the development of the entire plant and cell membrane destruction (Millar and Leaver, 2000). Lipid peroxidation has been well thought-out to be the major determinant of seed viability loss and inevitably crop loss (Gill and Tuteja, 2010).

1.6.3 Lipid peroxidation and its detrimental effects in plants

The peroxidation of lipids is considered to be the most detrimental process that is known to occur in every living organism (Yadav *et al.*, 2010; Skorzysnka-Polit, 2007). Lipid peroxidation has been associated with damages that are evoked by some environmental stresses in plants including osmotic stress. Membrane damage is sometimes taken as a single parameter to determine the level of lipid destruction under various stresses (Ahsan *et al.*, 2003). This is elucidated when there is an over accumulation of ROS in a plant due to unfavourable conditions. Moreover, the excessive accumulation of ROS, cause disruption of polyunsaturated fatty acids, thereby causing lipid peroxidation (Yadav *et al.*, 2010). Malondialdehyde (MDA) is often indicative of oxidative stress since it is a decomposition product of fatty acid degradation (Hossain *et al.*, 2013).

However, there are mechanisms that the plants utilises in order to inhibit or slow the effect of DNA damage, lipid peroxidation as well as damage to other cellular compartments. These mechanisms encompass activating antioxidant enzymes as well as non-enzymatic antioxidants that are able to scavenge the ROS molecules, thus reducing of oxidative damage under abiotic stresses that the plant may encounter.
1.7 The significant role of antioxidant enzymes in plants under stress

ROS are known to interact with multiple cellular components, leading to membrane, cellular damage and ultimately inhibition of plant growth. However, plants employ antioxidant defence systems to counter the damage caused by the accumulation of ROS (Khan and Fatma, 2008; Misra *et al*, 2009). ROS scavenging mechanisms include several enzymatic enzymes such as superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase (CAT), ascorbate peroxidase (APX), glutathione peroxidase (GPX), dehydroascorbate reductase (DHAR) and monodehydroascorbate reductase MDHAR (Blokhina *et al.*, 2003; Sharma *et al.*, 2012; Carvezan *et al.*, 2016) (Table 1.1). However, detoxification of ROS is not limited to enzymatic antioxidants, there are also metabolites that are involved in the detoxification of ROS which are non-enzymatic such as; ascorbic acid (AsA), glutathione (GSH) as well as various phenolic compounds (Blokhina *et al.*, 2003).

Enzyme	EC	Reaction catalysed
Superoxide dismutase	1.15.1.1	$2O_2$ - + $2O_2$ / $2H$ - \leftrightarrow $2H_2O_2$ +
		0 ₂
Ascorbate peroxidase	1.11.1.11	$H_2O_2 \leftrightarrow DHA + 2H_2O$
Monodehydroascorbate	1.6.5.4	$NADH + 2MDHA \longleftrightarrow NAD^{+} +$
reductase		2AA
Dehydroascorbate	1.8.5.1	2 GSH + DHA \leftrightarrow GSSG + AA
reductase		
Glutathione reductase	1.6.4.2	$NADPH + GSSG \longleftrightarrow NADP^{\scriptscriptstyle +} +$
		2GSH

Table 1.1: The mechanisms of ROS scavenging enzymes (Blokhina et al., 2003)



1.7.1 Superoxide dismutase in regulating abiotic stress in plants Superoxide dismutase is described by Buetter (1998) as a primary antioxidant enzyme due to the fact that it is the only known enzyme that acts directly on the radical. Therefore, SOD is known to be the catalytic component for the dismutation of superoxide radicals to H₂O₂ and H₂O (Table 1.1) and hence reduces the formation of hydroxyl radical via the Haber-Weiss-type reaction in plants under drought stress (Kleibenstein *et al.*, 1999; Hallwell, 2006). There are three main SOD isoenzymes classified as; Copper/zinc (Cu/Zn- SOD), the manganese (Mn- SOD) and the iron (Fe- SOD) (Chaudhary *et al.*, 2009). Previous studies have shown that SOD is most likely to be up-regulated under abiotic stress conditions (Boguszwewska *et al.*, 2010). An increase in the activity of SOD was detected in response to drought stress in different cultivars of *Phaseolus vulgaris* (Zlatev et al., 2006).

http://etd.uwc.ac.za/

1.7.2 Catalase (CAT)

Catalase (CAT) (EC: 1.11.1.6) enzymes are known as tetrameric heme containing enzymes that has the ability of directly scavenging H_2O_2 into H_2O and O₂ (Table 1.1) (Blokhina et al., 2003). CAT is considered to have the highest turnover rate for all the enzymes, as one CAT molecule can convert approximately six million molecules H_2O_2 to H_2O and O_2 per minute (Polidoros et al., 1999; Mishra and Das, 2003; Ray et al., 2012). CAT isoenzymes have been identified and studied in higher plants. These CAT isoenzymes are localised in different cellular compartments with CAT1 and CAT2 being located in the peroxisomes and cystol, on the other hand CAT3 is THE REPORT found to be located in the mitochondria (Kirkman and Gaetani, 2007; Gill and Tuteja 2010; Ray et al., 2012). These CAT isozymes have been illustrated to be regulated temporally and spatially, thus responding differently to light WESTERN CAPE (Willekens et al., 1994; Skadsen et al., 1995). In response to stress in plants, the activity of CAT has been found to increase in response to some droughtsusceptible wheat cultivars (Simova-Stoilova et al., 2010; Zamocky et al., 2008).

1.7.3 Ascorbate peroxidase

Ascorbate peroxidase (APX) (Table 1.1) is a key enzyme that regulates ROS levels acting in different subcellular compartments (Noctor and Foyer, 2006; Gill and Tuteja, 2010). APX is found to be regulated in multiple cellular

organelles including; the mitochondria, peroxisomes, the cystol as well as the chloroplast (Noctor and Foyer, 2006). Moreover, the APX enzyme mainly functions to scavenge and maintain the levels of H₂O₂ (Table 1.1) in conjunction with CAT (Gill and Tuteja, 2012). Previous studies have demonstrated that during various abiotic as well as biotic stresses, there is an enhanced expression of APX in plants. Furthermore, it has been well documented that the overexpression of APX in chloroplast of some plants also enhances the tolerance to salt and water deficit in plants (Sharma and Dubey, 2005; Sinha and Saxena, 2006).



1.7.4 Non-enzymatic detoxification mechanisms in plants

Antioxidant mechanisms for the scavenging of ROS molecules are not limited to enzymatic antioxidants solely; there are non-enzymatic antioxidants that forms part of the antioxidant machinery (Das and Roychouthury, 2014). Nonenzymatic antioxidant defence systems consist of ascorbic acid (AA), carotenoids, flavonoids, reduced glutathione (GSH), phenolics, and osmlytes (Athar, 2005; Smirnoff, 2005; Gill and Tuteja, 2010). These non-ezymatic antioxidants are known to be involved in protecting the plants from cellular damage and also play a critical role in plant growth and development.

1.7.4.1 The role of osmolytes in plant protection

One of the key metabolic consequences of water stress is the accumulation of osmolytes. Osmolytes are low molecular weight organic compounds, also known to be compatible solutes which are highly soluble and do not interfere with normal metabolic reactions because they are non-toxic even at high cellular concentrations (Flowers et al., 1977; Soshinkova et al., 2013; Yancey, 2005). The primary function of osmolytes is accepted to be osmotic adjustment in plants (Hasegawa et al., 2000), but this is not always the case, especially in glycophytes exposed to saline conditions (Slama et al., 2015). A wide range of osmoprotective compounds have been identified including THE REPORT mono-, di-, oligo- and polysaccharides, sugar alcohols (polyols) and amino acids (Rhodes et al., 2002; Ashraf and Foolad, 2007; Slama et al., 2015). Over-expression of genes for the synthesis of these different osmolytes WESTERN CAPE enable the plants to cope better with stress due to enhanced accumulation of the concerned osmolytes.

1.7.4.2 Flavonoids and polyphenolic compounds

Flavonoids and polyphenolics are antioxidant compounds that are widely distributed in the plant kingdom. These flavonoids and phenolic acids are considered as secondary ROS scavenging systems when plants are exposed to abiotic or biotic stresses (Das and Roychoudhury, 2010). They play a role in scavenging singlet oxygen radicals and also repairing the oxidative damage caused in the chloroplastic membrane induced by abiotic stresses (Vierstra *et al.*, 1982; Loreta *et al.*, 2004). Previous studies have shown that water deficit induced by PEG treatment, increased the flavonoids and phenolics (Basu *et al.*, 2010). Therefore, plants that contain these phenolics and flavonoids in abundance as compared to others are more likely to thrive under stress conditions (Das and Roychoudhury, 2010). Moreover, chia contains high contents of phenolic acids and therefore could be the reason why this plant thrives in arid environments (Ali *et al.*, 2012).

JUSTIFICATION

Drought is known to be one of the most detrimental abiotic stresses to affect agricultural growth and production. Water deficit not only limits crop production and yield, however it has an impact on every single business sector that is expected to render a profit. Furthermore, due to the fact that plants are immotile, they will be constantly affected by drought conditions and other abiotic stress conditions. Constant exposure to these environments leaves the plant vulnerable and due to over accumulation of ROS molecules. This results in the disruption of lipids at the membranes, ultimately leads to cellular death and thus death in crops. However, plants do have measures that they use in order to avoid or withstand the stress conditions, and this is done through a cascade of molecular responses which can make the plant somewhat tolerant to environmental stresses. Although South Africa has adapted genetically modified maize since the 1997, there is still no evidence that it is drought resistance. Moreover, with increase poverty, food insecurity and malnutrition in the country, it has become imperative to explore alternative food crops that encompass all the nutritional benefits and also able to grow optimally in drought prone soils. *Salvia hispanica*, commonly known as chia, is known to be a superfood due to its nutritional benefits. This crop can be used entirely, from the seeds, being used as pseudocereals and can be used as an oil seed due to its extremely high quality and quantity of omega 3 and 6 fatty acids, which will be explored in Chapter 1. The leaves of chia can be utilised in salads and the roots and stems can be used as biomass for biofuel production. This plant can be beneficial in improving food insecurity in the country.

UNIVERSITY of the

Finally, the response of chia to abiotic and biotic stresses is limited in the public domain, with most studies focusing on the phytochemical properties of the seeds. Therefore, this study will for part of a bigger stop to gather as much knowledge as possible of chia in order to try to make this crop a commercial one in the country.

AIMS AND OBJECTIVES OF STUDY

The aim of this study is determine the impact of water stress modulated by increasing PEG 8000 concentration (0%, 5%, 10% and 20%) on the physiological and molecular responses of chia plants. The effect of water stress on cereal crops have been well documented, with only limited studies on pseudocereal crops and to date there is no published data on chia. Therefore, this study aims to monitor the effect of increasing water stress on the germination rate and morphology of chia seeds. Furthermore, this study aims to achieve the effects of increasing water stress, elucidated by PEG on the physiological responses of chia by monitoring the growth parameters. These growth parameters include: (i) root and shoot length, (ii) biomass UNIVERSITY of the production and (iii) chlorophyll contents. Moreover, this also aims to explore the molecular responses of chia by investigating the accumulation of ROS molecules (O_2^-) and H_2O_2 , lipid peroxidation and cell death accounted under water stress conditions. Finally, the study will investigate the relationship between the physiological changes and ROS accumulation on the antioxidant enzymes capacity that are responsible for the detoxification of ROS (SOD, APX, CAT and GR).

CHAPTER 2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1Chemical reagents and suppliers

Chemical	Supplier
Acetone	Merck Millipore
Acrylamide/Bis (40%)	BIO –RAD
Ammonium acetate ($C_2H_3O_2NH_4$)	Sigma Aldrich
Ammonium Persulfate (APS)	BIO –RAD
Ascorbic acid / Ascorbate	Sigma Aldrich
Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA)	Roche
Bradford Reagent (1X)	BIO –RA
Calcium chloride (CaCl ₂) WESTERN C	A P Sigma Aldrich
Cobalt (II) chloride (CoSO ₄)	Sigma Aldrich
Copper (II) sulfate (CuSO ₄)	Sigma Aldrich
5,5-Dithiobis(2-nitrobenzoic acid) (DTNB)	Sigma Aldrich
Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA)	Sigma Aldrich
Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid ferric	Sigma Aldrich
sodium salt (Fe-Na EDTA)	
Evans Blue	Sigma Aldrich
Glacial acetic acid	Merck Millipore
Glutathione disulfide (GSSG)	Sigma Aldrich
Glycerol	Merck Millipore
Glycine	BIO-RAD

Table 2.1: List of chemical reagents used in this study

Hydrochloric acid (HCl)	Merck Millipore
Hydrogen peroxide (H ₂ O ₂)	Merck Millipore
Magnesium sulfate (MgSO)	Sigma Aldrich
Manganese (II) sulfate (MnSO ₄)	Sigma Aldrich
2-(N-Morpholino)ethanesulfonic acid	Sigma Aldrich
(MES) hydrate	
Methanol	Merck Millipore
Methionine	Sigma Aldrich
Methylthiazolyldiphenyl-tetrazolium	Sigma Aldrich
bromide (MTT)	
B-nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide	Sigma Aldrich
(NADH)	Ĩ
Nitrotetrazolium blue chloride powder	Sigma Aldrich
(NBT)	L_
Phenazine methosulfate (PMF) IVERSITY of	Sigma Aldrich
Polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP) MW: 40 000	Sigma Aldrich
Potassium cyanide (KCN)	Sigma Aldrich
Potassium hydroxide pellets	Merck Millipore
Potassium iodide (KI)	Sigma Aldrich
Potassium nitrate (KNO ₃)	Sigma Aldrich
Potassium phosphate monobasic (KH ₂ PO ₄)	Sigma Aldrich
Potassium phosphate dibasic (K ₂ HPO ₄)	Sigma Aldrich
Potassium sulfate (K ₂ SO ₄)	Sigma Aldrich
Promix	Stodels
Propan-2-ol (isopropanol)	Merck Millipore
Riboflavin	Sigma Aldrich

Sodium hydroxide (NaOH)	Merck Millipore
Sodium molybdate (Na ₂ MoO ₄)	Sigma Aldrich
N,N,N',N'-Tetramethylethylenediamine	Sigma Aldrich
(TEMED)	
Thiobarbituric acid (TBA)	Sigma Aldrich
Trichloroacetic acid (TCA)	Merck Millipore
Tris(hydroxymethyl)-aminethane	BIO-RAD
Zinc sulfate monohydrate (ZnSO ₄)	Sigma Aldrich

2.2 Seed germination

Salvia hispanica (chia) seeds (thousand seeds per treatment) (purchased from Faithful to Nature, Cape Town) were germinated on PEG 8000 pretreated (5%, 10% and 20%) moist filter paper at room temperature (in the dark) for 7 days. Germinated seeds were counted every 24 hours to determine germination percentage per day as well at the state of the seed morphology.

2.3 Plant growth and treatments

After 7 days of germination, seeds were transplanted (one plant per pot) in moist (distilled water) promix growth medium (purchased from Stodels Garden Center, Brackenfell, South Africa) and allowed to grow until the first fully expanded leaves had emerged in a 25/19 °C day/night temperature cycle under a 16/8 hours light/dark cycle.

Seedlings were supplemented with 0.5 X nutrient solution [1 mM K₂SO₄, 2 mM MgSO₄, 5 mM CaCl₂, 5 mM KNO₃, 10 mM NH₂NO₃, 1 mM K₂HPO₄ buffer (at pH 6.4), 5 μ M H₃BO₃, 5 μ M MnSO₄, 1 μ M ZnSO₄, 1 μ M CuSO₄, 2 μ M Na₂MoO₄, 1 μ M CoSO₄, 100 μ M Fe-NaEDTA and 10 mM 4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid (HEPES)] at pH 6.5 every second day. Nutrient solution was supplemented to control plants and 5%, 10% and 20% PEG 8000 plants for treatments. Nutrient or PEG 8000 solutions (50 ml) were exogenously applied to each plant at the base of the stem of the plant every second day for a period of 14 days.



2.4 Measuring of PEG 8000 water potential

Water potential of PEG 8000 (5%, 10% and 20%) solutions were determined with an isopietic thermocouple psychrometer using a modified methodology adopted from Michel and Kaufmann (1972). The water potential for each solution was calculated using formula:

Water potential= (RT/Mw)

Where R is the gas constant, T is temperature (K), and Mw is the molecular weight of water.

2.5 Analysis of physiological parameters

After 14 days of treatment, plants were carefully removed from their growth medium. Growth analysis on chia plants was performed by measuring plant length (shoot and root), fresh weights (shoot and root) and dry weights (shoot and root). There parameters were measured as previously described by Lokhande *et al.* (2010). For measuring dry weight; shoot and root tissues were dried in an oven at 60 °C for 72 hours.

2.6 Leaf chlorophyll content

Chlorophyll content was estimated using a modified method described by Harborne (1973). The chlorophyll pigments were determined by homogenising 200 mg of leaf tissue with 100% (v/v) acetone. The mixture was vortexed and centrifuged at 13000 x g for 10 minutes. This process was repeated until a clear pellet was observed. The absorbance of the different fractions (200 μ l) was recorded at 662 and 644 nm respectively using the spectrophotometer. Chlorophyll content was calculated using the following formulas:

Chlorophyll **a** (μ g/mL) = 12.21 A 662 nm- 2.81 A 646 nm

Chlorophyll **b** (μg/mL) = 20.13 A 646 nm – 5.03 A 66 2nm

Total chlorophyll content (μ g/mL) = 17.30 A 646 nm – 7.18 A 662 nm.

2.7 Measurement of cell death (Evans Blue uptake assay)

To determine the cellular death in chia leaves, a method adopted from Sanevas *et al.* (2007) was used with slight modifications. Fresh leaf tissue (200 mg) from the third youngest leaves (from three different plants per treatment) was stained using 0.25% (w/v) Evans blue and incubated at room temperature for 1 hour. The leaves were washed five times with distilled water to remove all surface-bound dye. The dye absorbed by the dead leaf cells were extracted using 1% (w/v) SDS. This was incubated for 1 hour at 55 °C. Absorbance of each extract was measured at 600 nm to determine the level of Evans Blue uptake and thus the level of cell death in the tissue.

2.8 Superoxide content

Superoxide content in the leaves of chia plants were estimated using a method adopted from Gokul *et al.* (2016). Leaf samples from each treatment were incubated at room temperature for 20 minutes in a buffer containing: 10 mM potassium cyanide (KCN), this was used for the inhibition of the Cu/Zn SODs, 10 mM H₂O₂, which was used for the inhibition of the Cu/ZN as well as the Mn-SODs, 80 μ M of NBT and 2% SDS and this was used for the inhibition of Fe- and Cu/Zn- SOD and 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer at pH 7. Following the incubation, the leaf pieces within the solution were crushed using a miniature pestle, this was done to release the superoxide within them. The crushed samples were centrifuged at 13 000 x g for 10 minutes Absorbance readings and absorbance measured at 600nm. Superoxide content was calculated using the extinction coefficient if 12.8 mM⁻¹·cm⁻¹.

2.9 Protein extraction for biochemical analysis

Leaf tissue from all treatments were harvested and ground into a fine powder using liquid nitrogen. Leaf material (200 mg) was homogenized in 1 ml of 6% (w/v) trichloroacetic acid (TCA) for analysis of H₂O₂ content and lipid peroxidation or in 1 ml of homogenizing buffer (PVP) for the measurement of antioxidant enzymatic activities. Protein concentrations for all assays were measured in extracts as described by the manufacturer for the RC DC Protein Assay Kit 11 (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc., Hercules, CA).

2.10 Measurement of the H₂O₂ content assay

For the measurement of H_2O_2 content in the leaf tissues of chia plants, a method previously described by Volikova *et al.* (2000) was used. The reaction mixture contained 50 µl of the TCA extract (section 2.8), 1 M KI and 20 mM K_2HPO_4 , pH 5.0. The sample mixture was incubated at 25 °C for 20 minutes and the absorbance readings recorded at 390 nm. Hydrogen peroxide content was calculated using a standard curve based on the absorbance (390 nm) of H_2O_2 standards.

2.11 Estimation of lipid peroxidation

Lipid peroxidation was determined using a method previously described by Vos *et al.* (1991). TCA extracts (200 μ l) from each treatment was mixed with 400 μ l of 0.5% TBA (dissolved in 20% TCA) and incubated at 95 °C (waterbath)

for 1 hour. After incubation, samples were immediately placed on ice for 10 minutes and centrifuged (13 000 x g) for 20 minutes. Absorbance readings of supernatants were measured at 600 nm and 532 nm respectively. To adjust the non-specific turbidity the value obtained at 600 nm was subtracted from the 532 nm reading. The concentration of MDA was calculated using a molar extinction coefficient (155 $mM^{-1}.cm^{-1}$).

2.12 Determination of total superoxide dismutase (SOD) activity

Superoxide dismutase (SOD) activities were measured using a modified method described by Samantary (2002). The reaction mixture consisted of 10 PVP protein extracts (section 2.8) with 190 µl of SOD buffer (0.1 mM NBT, 0.005 mM riboflavin, 10 mM methionine and 0.1 mM EDTA). Reaction mixtures were incubated under light at room temperature for 15 minutes to initiate the reaction. Absorbance readings were recorded at 560 nm and SOD activity calculated based on the amount of SOD enzyme that was required to reduce 50% of NBT to formazan.

2.13 Ascorbate peroxidase total activity

APX activity was determined using a modified method described by Asada (1984). Each reaction mixture contained 10 μ l PVP leaf extract (section 2.8) and 190 μ l reaction buffer (50 mM K₂HPO₄ at pH 7.0, 0.2 mM EDTA and 0.25

mM ascorbic acid). The reaction was initiated by the addition of 90 μ M H₂O₂. The APX activity was calculated based of the changes in absorbance at 290 nm, using the extinction co-efficient of 2.8 Mm⁻¹cm (Teksi *et al.*, 2016).

2.14 Catalase activity total activity

Catalase (CAT) activity was measured as previously described by Cakmak and Marschner (1992) and Monnet *et al.* (2006) with slight modifications. The reaction mixture contained 100 mM potassium phosphate buffer pH 7.0 (900 μ l) and 100 μ l of enzyme extract. The reaction was initiated with 6 mM H₂O₂. The rate of decomposition of H₂O₂ was recorded at 240 nm for every 30 seconds for 3 minutes. One enzymatic unit of CAT can be defined as the amount of enzyme required to decompose 1.0 μ mol of H₂O₂ at pH 7.0 with the concentration of H₂O₂ decreasing from 10.3 mM to 9.2 mM (Caliborne 1985, Prabharkar *et al.*, 2007). CAT was calculated using the extinction coefficient of 43.6 M⁻¹cm⁻¹.

2.15 Glutathione reductase total activity

Glutathione reductase (GR) activity was determined using a modified method described by Esterbauer and Grill (1978) by following the rate of NADPH oxidation at 340 nm. The reaction buffer consisted of: 0.2 mM NADPH, 0.5 mM GSSG, 1 mM EDTA in 100 mM K_2 HPO₄ pH 7.8. The reaction buffer (190 μ l) was pre-mixed with10 μ l of PVP protein extract (Section 2.8) in a final volume of 200 μ l. GR activity was calculated based on the oxidation of NADPH, using the extinction coefficient of 6.2 mM⁻¹.cm⁻¹.

2.16 Detection of ROS detoxifying antioxidant isoforms

2.16.1 Superoxide dismutase isoforms

Native gels were first separated on a 12% acrylamide gels (Laemmli, 1970). SOD isoforms then were detected in chia leaf samples as described by Beauchamp and Fridovich (1971) with slight modifications using 90 µg of PVP protein extracts. SOD activity was detected by staining with 0.5 mM riboflavin and 2.5 mM NBT.

WESTERN CAPE

2.16.2 Ascorbate peroxidase isoforms

For the detection of APX isoezymes electrophoretic separation was performed as described by Seckin *et al.* (2010). Native PAGE was performed at 4°C in 12% polyacrylamide gels (Laemmli, 1970). The gels were washed with 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 7.8) containing, 4 mM ascorbic acid and 2 mM H_2O_2 for 10 minutes. The gel was then stained with 50 mM KPO₄ (pH 7.8), 16 mM TEMED and 2.5 mM NBT for 10-20 minutes with gentle agitation in the presence of light.

2.16.3 Catalase isoforms

The CAT in-gel activity was based primarily on a method derived from Chandlee and Schandalios (1983). Gels were soaked in 5 mM H_2O_2 for 10 minutes. Gels were then incubated in 1% ferric chloride (w/v) and 1% potassium ferricyanide solution.

2.16.4 Glutathione reductase isoforms

GR isoforms were detected using a modified method described by Lee and Lee (2000). GR was visualized on the native PAGE gel by incubation in 50 ml of 0.25 M Tris–HCl buffer (pH 7.9) containing 4.0 mM glutathione disulfide (GSSG), 1.5 mM NADPH, and 2 mM DTNB for 20 minutes. The activity was negatively stained in the dark with a solution containing 1.2 mM MTT and 1.6 mM PMS for 10 minutes at 30 °C.

2.17 Densitometry analysis of ROS scavenging enzymes

The native PAGE gels (SOD, APX, CAT and GR) were analysed after image acquisition, using the Spot Denso tool (AlphaEase FC imaging software V4, Alpha 88 Innotech Corporation). The enzymatic activity (for the respective antioxidant enzymes) of each isoform in the treatments was given a score of an average of the relative pixel intensities. This was achieved by allocating a value of 1 for the isoform with the least pixel intensity in that type of isoform and expressing the rest of the pixel intensities for that type of isoform in the other treatments relative to this isoforms.

2.18 Statistical analysis

The data obtained in this study was analysed using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) test and validated for significant differences by the Tukey-Kramer test at 95% confidence interval. All measurements represent the means and standard errors (± SE) of three replicates.



UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE

CHAPTER 3

PEG- INDUCED WATER STRESS ALTERS THE PHYSIOLOGICAL RESPONSES OF CHIA PLANTS

3.1 Introduction

Chia (Salvia hispanica L.) is a member of the mint family and represents one of a group of superfood crops that fall under the class of pseudocereals (Ali *et al.*, 2012). Combined with its medicinal and nutritional benefits, chia is an ideal candidate for more concerned crop improvement and ultimately food security. The physiochemical properties of chia associated with its high nutritional composition have been extensively studied. On the other hand, the mechanisms involved in its ability to cope with any abiotic stress remains stagnant. Moreover, chia has been deemed to be drought tolerant, owning to the fact that it can grow optimally in arid soils. This is because it is cultivated in central and southern Mexico and thus it can be used as an alternative food crop (Ayezra and Coates, 2009; Ali *et al.*, 2012). However, studies on chia are limited to the phytochemical properties of the plant. Elucidating chia to water stress conditions is important in understanding the complex mechanisms of response at various degrees of water stress.

Water availability is an important aspect for progressive biochemical and physiological activities in all forms of life. Water deficit also referred to as drought or osmotic stress is one of the most detrimental abiotic stress factors that limit crop production globally (Ngara, 2009). Osmotic stress causes plants to lose water to the external environment and result in a decrease in turgid pressure (Shao *et al.*, 2007). As a consequence, decrease in turgor pressure affects the cellular processes such as cell expansion and division (Xiong and Zhu, 2002). Water stress can be mimicked by adding osmotic polymers such as polyethylene glycol (PEG). Polyethylene glycol has been used in a number of studies to impose water stress on plants due to their properties. The effect of PEG has been shown to lead to negative effects on plant physiology and hormone balance.

nenenenen)

When plants are exposed to water stress conditions, they respond using a combination of morphological, physiological and molecular mechanisms (Xiong and Zhu, 2002; Altman, 2003; Pathan *et al.*, 2007). Germination of seeds is one of the most fundamentally crucial processes that need to occur in order for plant growth and production to proceed. Seed germination and seedling growth has been found to be negatively affected by water deficit in many studies (Davidson and Chevalier, 1987; Kiem and Krostad, 1981; Owen, 1972; Passioura, 1988). Germination of seeds can be determined by inherent characteristics and outer surroundings. One the most important factors limiting seed germination are environmental stresses and the most detrimental of them is the lack of water or water deficit. This has become more apparent in recent years more especially in Africa due to increasing drought. Water deficit is known to limit germination of seeds and thus, there

is a need to look at alternative food crops that can adapt to arid and semiarid climates like chia and to study their tolerance mechanisms to increase crop productivity.

In this frame, the effects of reduced PEG 8000 water potential of seed germination and morphology will be evaluated. This chapter will also go on to demonstrate the effects of PEG-induced water stress on the physiological parameters of chia.

3.2 Results



3.2.1 Water stress influences the rate of germination

Chia seeds were germinated under different PEG 8000 concentrations (5%, WESTERN CAPE 10% and 20%) for a period of 7 days as described in section 2.2. The number of seeds germinated for each treatment was counted every day for 1 week and the results collated (Figure 3.2A). Approximately 80% of seeds were germinated in both control and the 5% treatment after day one. The results showed that with increasing PEG concentrations, there was a decrease in water potential that resulted in a decrease in seed germination (Figure 3.1). The decrease in water potential significantly reduced seed germination. Based on the results presented here, there seems to be a direct correlation between decreased water potential and the rate of seed germination. This demonstrates that with increased PEG concentrations, seed germination and the rate at which seed germinate was significantly reduced (Figure 3.2A-B). Under low water potential (at -0.5 MPa; 20%), the rate of germination was reduced by \pm 80%, whereas this reduction was less severe (\pm 22%) under moderately low water potential (at -0.1 MPa; 10%) when compared to the control. Furthermore, no significant reduction in germination rate was observed in the 5% treatment. A similar trend was observed for root radical emergence under different treatment conditions (Figure 3.2C).



Figure 3.1: Determination of water potential of different PEG 8000 treatments.



Figure 3.2: The influence of PEG-induced water stress on the rate of seed germination. Seeds were germinated on sterilized filter paper pre-treated with different concentrations of PEG 8000. Control seeds were germinated on filter paper moist with distilled water. Once the radical of the seeds had appeared after 7 days of germination, the percentage was statistically calculated. (A) Percentage of germinated seeds each day, (B) Total germinated seeds at day 7, (C) Morphology of germinated seeds at day 7. The error bars are representative of the mean (\pm SE) of three independent experiments from 100 seeds treatment in each experiment. The same letters (a) above the error bars indicated that there was no significant difference between means (p < 0.05).

3.2.2 The effect of PEG-induced water stress on the growth parameters

of chia plants

Growth is known to be one of the most water stress sensitive physiological processes due to the reduction of turgor pressure. Therefore, water stress greatly limits the cell expansion as well as the cell growth due to low turgor pressure. This result shows that at higher concentrations of PEG 8000 there was a significant reduction in plant growth and development (Figure 3.3 A and B).

Interestingly, no significant reduction in shoots length was observed for 5% and 10% PEG treatments, while on the other hand, shoots length for 20% PEG treatment showed a slight reduction when they were compared to the control. While roots length analysis (Figure 3.3; B) revealed that there was a slightly decrease in the 5% of ± 6%. An additional reduction was found in 10% PEG treated plants at ± 16% and 20% PEG treated plants showed a reduction of ± 16%, in comparison to their control. The trend in these results can also be correlated to the osmotic potential of the PEG 8000 solutions (Figure 3.1), where a decrease in the osmotic potential conferred a decrease in the germination rate and poor radical formation (Figure 3.2 A-C). Therefore, decrease in the osmotic potential of increasing PEG 8000 solutions also conferred a decrease in the shoot and root biomass as well as the shoot and root length.



Figure 3.3: The influence of PEG-induced water stress on the growth parameters of chia plants. Plant growth parameters include: (A) Shoot length and (B) Root length at the end of the treatment period. The error bars are representative of the mean (\pm SE) of three independent experiments from five plants per treatment in each experiment. Means with different letters are statistically different from each other (p < 0.05).



3.2.3 The influence of PEG-induced water stress on chia biomass

The application of water stress induced by increasing concentrations PEG 8000 decreased shoot biomass (Figure 3.4 A and B). In response to treatment with 20% PEG, shoot fresh weight was reduced by \pm 106% whereas the reduction in the 10% treatment was less severe (\pm 45%) (Figure 3.4 A). The least reduction in shoot fresh weight was observed in the 5% PEG treatment compared to the control plants. Treatment with 5% reduced shoots dry weight by \pm 36%, when compared to the control. A similar phenomenon trend was also observed for shoot dry weight where treatment with 5%, 10% and 20% PEG treatment reduced the shoot dry weight by \pm 27%, \pm 57% and \pm 60%, respectively to the control (Figure 3.4 B).

The same phenomenon was observed in the root fresh and dry weights (Figure 3.4 C and D). The root fresh weight was reduced by \pm 35% for the 5% water stress treated plants. There was a higher reduction of \pm 52% and \pm 67% for the \pm 10% and 20% PEG 8000 treated chia plants, respectively when compared to the untreated chia plants. In addition, roots dry weights expressed a similar trend to the shoot dry weights presenting a \pm 15%, \pm 63% and \pm 70% (5%, 10% and 20% PEG treatments) reduction.



Figure 3.4: The effect of PEG-induced water stress on the shoot biomass of chia plants. Plant biomass is represented by (A) shoot fresh weight, (B) shoot dry weight, (C) root fresh weight and (D) root dry weight. Error bars are representative of the mean (\pm SE) of three independent experiments from five plants per treatment in each experiment. Means with different letters are statistically different from each other (p < 0.05).

3.2.4 PEG-induced water stress alters photosynthetic pigments in chia plants

Chlorophyll is an important photoreceptor and is involved in photosynthesis. The results showed that plants treated with 5% PEG slightly reduced (± 7.2%) total chlorophyll content. However, a more significant decrease in total chlorophyll content was observed with an increase in PEG concentrations. The reduction in chlorophyll content observed in both 10% and 20% treatments was approximately 22% when compared to the control plants. Chlorophyll a and b results showed a similar pattern of results, with the highest decrease found in the 10% and 20% treated plants. Interestingly, there were no subsequent differences found between the 10% and 20% treated plants across all the photosynthetic pigments.

> UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE



Figure 3.5: Influence of PEG-induced water stress on the chlorophyll content of chia plants. Plants were exposed to different concentrations of PEG 8000 (5%, 10% and 20% every second day) for a period of 14 days. The total chlorophyll content was measured in chia leaf tissue. The error bars are representative of the mean (±SE) of three independent experiments from five plants per treatment in each experiment. The same letters above the error bars indicated that there was no significant difference between means (p < 0.05).

UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE

3.3 Discussion

The challenges associated with abiotic stress on plant growth are evident among the emerging impact of climatic changes (Bellard *et al.*, 2012). The constraints to crop production are exacerbated with increasing population competing for natural resources (Wallace *et al.*, 2003). Nevertheless, molecular studies on plant responses to abiotic stresses have indicated that drought imposes water stress which can be induced by compounds such as sorbitol and polyethylene glycol (PEG) during (Ngara, 2012). This consequently, helps in understanding the way that drought stress affects plants. This chapter investigated the influence of PEG-induced water stress on seed germination, growth and biomass production of chia plants.

3.3.1 Increasing PEG concentrations decrease germination rate

Water stress is a multifaceted stress that poses detrimental effects on yield limitations depending on the plant growth stage, duration and severity of the stress (El-Kablawy and AL-Rawai, 2005). Germination is known to be the most crucial and sensitive stage in the life cycle of plants more importantly in arid and semi-arid environments (El-Kablawy and AL-Rawai, 2005; Ahmad *et al.*, 2009). Seed germination can be affected by both seed genetic characteristics (such as dormancy and seed coat thickness) and also by environmental conditions (Luzuriaga *et al.*, 2006; Finch-Savage and Leubner-Metzger, 2006). Seeds that are exposed to unfavourable conditions such as water stress may compromise the subsequent radical formation and seedling. Water potential is known to be one of the most important external factors affecting seed germination and percentage (Alvarado and Bradford 2002; Norsworthy ad Oliveira 2006).

The results presented in this chapter highlighted drastic reduction in seed radical formation germinated in higher PEG concentration (10% and 20%) (Figure 3.2 C). A similar trend was observed when evaluating the rate at which seeds germinated under the different treatment conditions (Figure 3.2 B). This reduction observed here can be correlated to a study by Kaufmann

and Eckard (2008) that showed a decrease in water potential decrease the germination percentage of *Pinus contorta* and *Picea engelmaii* seeds.

This outcome was further supported by Muscolo *et al.* (2013), who illustrated that high concentrations of PEG reduced the final germination percentages in four lentil genotypes (Eston, Castellucio, Ustica and Pantelleria). We suggest that the reduction in seed germination could be as a consequence of a reduction in water potential caused by PEG. A study by Toscano *et al.* (2017), showed that ornamental sunflower seeds imbibed in low water potentials of PEG delayed the rate of germination, which is in support of our study.



3.3.2 Impact of PEG- induced water stress on the physiological responses of chia

Changes in plant morphology is most likely one of the first indicators when plants experience stress conditions (Ahuja *et al.*, 2005; Yadav *et al.*, 2005). During water stress conditions, plants' may exhibit visual alterations including leaf rolling, stunted shoot and root development and yellow colour progression on leaves (Cardoza and Steward, 2006). The extent of morphological damage which is cause by the stress can thus be determined by measuring parameters such as shoot and root growth, as well as shoot and root biomass (Ahuja *et al.*, 2005). Water stress in plants has been found to stunt plant growth which was found in this study, where the application of PEG was found to have adverse reduction in shoot and root length (Reddy et al., 2003; Ullah et al., 2017). The same phenomenon was presented in this study, where high concentration of PEG (10% and 20%) reduced shoot and root length (Figure 3.3). This phenomenon has not been demonstrated in previous studies of chia however, Saleh et al. (2015) showed a decrease in Oryza sativa growth parameters when treated with 30% PEG. The influence of the PEG osmotic solution was found to have negative effects on the plant biomass production whereby results showed that with the increasing PEG concentration there THE REPORT was significant decrease in the plant biomass as compared to that of the control (Figure 3.4). This impact has been well presented in other previous studies under stress conditions by Murthy et al. (2010) and more recently in WESTERN CAP study by Suis et al. (2015).

3.3.3 Reduction in chlorophyll content with an increase in PEG-induced water stress

High chlorophyll content is a desirable trait because it indicates a low degree of photo-inhibition of photosynthetic apparatus, thereby reducing carbohydrate losses for plant growth (Farquhar *et al.*, 1989; Saud *et al.*, 2010). According to Chaves *et al.* (2011), water stress conditions caused a reduction in the chlorophyll content. One of the primary characteristics of PEG is its ability to reduce the water potential and thus leading into progressive reduction in photosynthetic systems (Kaur and Gupta, 2005; Singh *et al.*, 2014; Shivakrishna *et al.*, 2017).

Chlorophyll a and b fluorescence, though corresponding to a very small fraction of dissipated energy from the photosynthetic apparatus, is generally accepted as providing access to the understanding of its function (Genty et al., 1989; Lotfi et al., 2015). The results presented in this study showed significant decrease in chlorophyll a, chlorophyll b levels which subsequently led to a significant reduction in the total chlorophyll content, with the most significant reduction observed in plants treated with 20% PEG 8000. This reduction could be ascribed to an increase in chlorophyll degradation as seen THE REAL ----for the reduction in the levels of chlorophyll a and b (Figure 3.6). The reduction in green chlorophyll pigments and total chlorophyll content have been reported in various plant species including sunflower (Arfan et al., WESTERN CAPE 2007), castor bean Pinheiro et al., 2008) and Thymus citriodorus (Suis et al., 2008) in response to water stress induced by PEG. A study done by Ashraf and Harris (2013), suggests that during the early stages of drought stress closure of the stomata is stimulated, thereby inhibiting the entry of carbon dioxide and consequently leading to the accumulation of oxygen molecules.

CHAPTER 4

WATER STRESS MODULATES THE ACCUMULATION ROS AND ALTERS ANTIOXIDANT CAPACITY IN CHIA

4.1 Introduction

Chia is an oleagonios native to the region extending from west-central Mexico to northern Gautemala. This plant stands out for its adaptations to regions of tropical and subtropical climates (Capitani *et al.*, 2012). Recently, *S. hispanica* has become an important source of nutrition for humans, providing health benefits such as reduction of cardiovascular diseases, bowel regulation, cholesterol, obesity and prevention of type 2 diabetes (Jin *et al.*, 2012, Poudyal *et al.*, 2012). The seeds of chia have been under much investigation due to their high levels of antioxidants, protein, dietary fibre and most importantly their oil quantity and quality (Ixtaina *et al.*, 2011).

Chia has been extensively studied with regards to its medicinal benefits, nutritional composition and/or phytochemical properties. However, regarding agronomical aspects, experimental data is still very scant especially in the scope of plant physiology and biochemistry in response to abiotic stress conditions of chia. During plant growth and development, there are intrinsic factors (phenotypic, genotypic) and extrinsic factors (light, temperature, drought, excess water, salinity, heavy metals) that influence how the plant will adapt to survive to that environment (Zhang *et al.*, 2010; Obidiegwu *et al.*, 2015). When plants experience constant exposure to such harsh environments there is an overproduction of reactive oxygen species (ROS). ROS can have detrimental effects on the physiological and biochemical state of the plant and under severe conditions; it causes oxidative stress, DNA and protein damage and ultimate cell death (Birben *et al.*, 2012; Ahamd *et al.*, 2017). Plants have enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidant mechanisms, which are able to detoxify these toxic ROS molecules, attempting to bring the homeostasis of the plant back in balance (Most and Papenbrock, 2015). Some of these antioxidant enzymes include: superoxide dismutase (SOD), acscorbate peroxidase (APX), catalase (CAT) and glutathione reductase (GR).

UNIVERSITY of the

This chapter will focus on the influence of PEG-induced water stress on the biochemical responses of chia plants by monitoring changes in ROS accumulation, the extent of lipid peroxidation (manifested as cellular death) and antioxidant capacity.
4.2 Results

4.2.1 Stress-induced ROS accumulation

Chia plants were grown and treated as described in section 2.3. The effect of increasing PEG concentrations on ROS accumulation (superoxide and hydrogen peroxide) in the leaf tissue of chia plants was investigated.

The superoxide radical was the first ROS molecule evaluated in this study. The results showed that with increasing PEG 8000 concentrations and subsequent decrease in water potential, an increase in superoxide content was observed (Figure 4.1 A). For plants treated with 5% PEG, the superoxide content in chia leaves was measured at \pm 45% with \pm 52% observed in the 10% PEG treatment. However, the highest increase in superoxide content was observed in the 20% PEG treatment (\pm 80%). The outcome presented here suggest that with increased PEG concentration there was a noticeable increase in superoxide content in chia leaves. The scavenging of superoxide molecules (via superoxide dismutase) results in the accumulation of H₂O₂ molecules which is detrimental to plant growth and development if not controlled. However, H₂O₂ can also serves as a signalling molecule for various enzymes under optimal conditions.

For H_2O_2 analysis in this study, the results showed that high concentrations (20%) of PEG 8000 augment H_2O_2 content in chia leaves whereas the lower PEG concentrations (5% and 10%) does not significantly affect H_2O_2 content relative to the control (Figure 4.1 B). The most notable increase in H_2O_2 content was observed in the leaves of chia plants treated with 20% PEG. This increase stood at approximately 35% when compared to the H_2O_2 content of the control plants (Figure 4.1 B).



Figure 4.1: Changes in ROS accumulation regulated by different concentration s of PEG 8000. Measurement of (A) superoxide levels and (B) hydrogen peroxide content in leaf samples of chia plants treated with different PEG 8000 concentrations (0%, 5%, 10% and 20 %) for a period of 14 days. The error bars are representative of the mean (±SE) of three independent experiments from chia leaves. Bars with different letters signify that they are statistically different (p < 0.05).

UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE

4.2.1 PEG-induced water stress enhanced oxidative stress in chia plants

Malondialdehyde (MDA) is a useful indicator of oxidative damage to lipids, as a result of membranes susceptibility to reactive oxygen species (ROS). This is an imperative indicator for the level of stress induced and thus effects on plant cells as well as tissues, under stress conditions. The results showed a significant increase (± 47%) in MDA detected in the 20% PEG treatment as compared to the controls (Figure 4.2 A). No significant changes in MDA levels were observed in the leaves of plants treatment with in the 5% and 10% PEG 8000 respectively (Figure 4.2 A). Although there was an increase in the levels of MDA in the 5% and 10% treatments as compared to the control, the results of these treatments are statistically similar. In order to verify whether the increase in membrane leakage and the ultimate loss of membrane integrity due to lipid peroxidation results in cellular death, we determined the levels of cell death using Evans Blue assay.

Cell death occurs as a result of oxidative damage which can be characterized by cellular effects such as lipid peroxidation and nucleic acid damage (Foyer and Noctor, 2005). In our study on differential PEG treatment, we demonstrated a strong correlation between the reduction in shoot and roots dry weight biomass (Figure 3.3) and increased in level of cellular death (Figure 4.2 B). The results given presented in Figure 4.2 B indicated that an increase in all PEG concentrations (5%, 10% and 20%) resulted in an increase in levels of cell death with highest level of cell death observed in the 20% PEG treatment (\pm 60%). Cell death in the 5 % and 10 % PEG treatment was increased by \pm 27% and \pm 57%, respectively when compared to the control samples (Figure 4.2 B).



Figure 4.2: ROS-induced oxidative stress augments oxidative damage manifested as increased lipid peroxidation and cellular death. Different PEG 8000 concentration alters (A): lipid peroxidation and (B): cell death in leaf samples of chia plants. The error bars are representative of the mean (\pm SE) of three independent experiments from Chia leaves. Different letters represent statistical differences (p < 0.05).



4.2.2.1 Changes in superoxide dismutase activity

Superoxide dismutase (SOD) is the first defensive enzyme involved in the antioxidant process (Lee *et al.*, 2001). This antioxidative enzyme is involved in the conversion of the superoxide radical to hydrogen peroxide and oxygen (Libik- Konieczny *et al.*, 2012). Total SOD activity was differential regulated by changes in PEG 8000 concentration (Figure 4.3). Chia plants treated with 5% PEG increased total SOD activity in leaf tissue by \pm 33% when compared to control plants. Similarly, total SOD activity in the 10% treatment was increased by \pm 68% compared to the control plants. Interestingly, total SOD

activity was reduced (± 14%) in the 20% treatment which was significantly lower than observed for both lower PEG concentrations (Figure 4.3).

Similarly to what was observed for MnSOD 1 and MnSOD 2, the enzymatic activity for MnSOD 3 was differentially regulated in the PEG treatments (Figure 4.4 A-B). The highest increases in SOD activity was detected in the 5% and 10% PEG treatments. No significant changes in SOD activity was detected in the 20% PEG treatment (Figure 4.4 A and B).



Figure 4.3: Spectrophotometric determination of the total SOD activity in leaves of chia plants. Total SOD activity was differentially altered by PEG concentrations (5%, 10% and 20%). The error bars are representative of the mean (\pm SE) of three independent experiments from Chia leaves. Different letters on each bar indicate the statistically different means (p < 0.05).



Figure 4.4: SOD isoforms are differentially regulated in response to different PEG treatments (5%, 10% and 20%). SOD activity was detected in chia leaf samples using in-gel activity assays (A) Chia plants were treated with PEG 8000 (5%, 10% and 20%) for a period of 14 days. Individual SOD isoforms were identified using differential staining (B) Relative SOD expression represented by the average IDV. The error bars are representative of the mean (±SE) of three independent experiments from Chia leaves. Different letters on bars indicate statistically different means (p < 0.05).

UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE

4.2.2.2 The influence of PEG-induced waster stress on ascorbate peroxidase activity

Ascorbate peroxidase (APX) is an important antioxidant enzyme that is highly responsive to abiotic stress conditions and plays a major role in the detoxification of H_2O_2 in plants. This section will focus on the impact of PEGinduced water stress on APX activity (total and individual isoforms). The results showed that total APX activity was increased in all PEG treatments compared to that of the control with the highest increase of ± 79% observed in the 10% PEG treatment (Figure 4.5). Although significant increases in APX activity was observed in the 5 % and 20% PEG treatments, these increase were not as pronounced as observed in the 10% PEG treatment.



Figure 4.5: Total APX activity in chia leaves in response to PEG-induced water stress. Chia plants were treated with different concentrations of PEG 8000 (5%, 10%, 20%) for a period of 14 days treated every second day. The different letters show statistical differences between treatments (p < 0.05).

Ascorbate peroxidase isoforms were detected using native PAGE as described in section 2.16.2 Three APX isoforms (APX 1-3) were detected in this study and each isoform was differentially expressed by the different PEG treatments.

Densitometry analysis of APX 1 showed that the enzymatic activity was significantly increased with an increase in PEG concentration. In response to

treatment with 5% PEG, APX 1 activity was increased by \pm 16% whereas 10% PEG increased APX 1 activity by \pm 21% and 19% PEG presented an increase of \pm 24% when compared to the control (Figure 4.6 A-B).

For APX 2, very low activity was detected in the control and the 5% PEG treated samples. APX 2 activities were detected in the 10% and 20% PEG treated samples. This suggests that APX 2 activity is PEG-induced (only at high concentrations). The activity detected for APX 3 is PEG-induced as all treatments increased the enzymatic activity of the isoform. Statistically there was no significant difference in APX activity amongst the different treatments for APX 3 (Figure 4.6 A-B).



Figure 4.6: APX isoforms are differentially regulated in response to different PEG treatments (5%, 10% and 20%). APX activity was detected in chia leaf samples using ingel activity assays Chia plants were treated with PEG 8000 (5%, 10% and 20%) for a period of 14 days. (A) Individual APX isoforms (B) relative APX expression. The error bars are representative of the mean (±SE) of three independent experiments from Chia leaves. Different letters on bars indicate statistically different means (p < 0.05).

4.2.2.3 Detection of catalase activity in chia plants exposed to PEGinduced water stress

CAT, like APX is an important catalyers of H_2O_2 , specifically in the peroxisome and thus a typical reaction is the dismutation of two molecule of H_2O_2 to water and O_2 (Table 1.1) (Gill and Tuteja, 2010). This section will focus on the impact of PEG-induced water stress on CAT activity (total and individual isoforms).

PEG- induced water stress in chia plants showed an increase in CAT activity with increasing PEG concentrations. No significant changes were observed in the 5% PEG treated plants when compared to the control. An increase of \pm 19% and \pm 90% observed in chia plants supplemented with 10% and 20% PEG 8000 respectively.

WESTERN CAPE



Figure 4.7: Total CAT activity in chia leaves in response to PEG-induced water stress. Chia plants were treated with different concentrations of PEG 8000 (5%, 10%, 20%) for a period of 14 days treated every second day. The different letters show statistical differences between treatments (p < 0.05).



In total two CAT isoforms (CAT 1-2) were detected and the activity of these isoforms was regulated by the different concentrations of PEG 8000. For CAT 1, both treatments with 5% and 10% PEG did not alter enzymatic activity (Figure 4.8). However, treatment with 20% PEG increased CAT 1 activity by \pm 79% when compare to the control and lower PEG treatments. This observation was supported by the densitometry analysis of CAT 1 activity (Figure 4.8 B).

For CAT 2, no or very little activity was detected in the control sample and the 5% PEG treatment. The results suggest that CAT 2 activity is PEG dependent (high concentration) with noticeable activity detected in the 10% PEG treatment but significantly higher activity detected in the 20% PEG treatment (Figure 4.8 C). The enzymatic activity detected in the 20% treatment was measured at \pm 77% using densitometry analysis.



Figure 4.8: The effect of water stress on CAT activity. In-gel active assays were performed on chia leaf tissues treated for 14 days. The data represents the mean (\pm SE) of 3 independent experiments from 3 biological repeats in each experiment. Means with different letters are statistically different from each other (p < 0.05).

4.2.2.4 Measurement and detection of glutathione reductase (GR) activity in chia leaves

Glutathione reductase (GR), like APX and CAT is important in detoxifying GR to maintain the redox state of ascorbate and glutathione. GR catalyses the NADPH dependent reaction –SH of GSSG, which is important in maintaining the GSH and thus control the redox state of plant cells. The results of this study showed that there was an a significant increase in the GR activity of

Chia leaves in the 20% PEG 8000 treated, presenting an increase of \pm 59% as compared to the control (Figure 4.9). In contrast, a reduction of \pm 7% and \pm 5% observed in 5% and 10% PEG treated plants, respectively when compared to the control.



Figure 4.9: Glutathione reductase activity is altered in Chia leaves in response to water stress treatments. Chia plants were treated with different concentrations of PEG 8000 (5%, 10%, 20%) for a period of 14 days treated every second day. The different letters show statistical differences between treatments (p<0.05).

Three GR isoforms were detected (GR 1, GR 2 and GR 3) after specific staining described in section 2.16.4 (Figure 4.10 A). Densitometry analysis revealed that water stress differentially altered the GR activity across all treatments. For GR 1, as significant increase of \pm 17% and \pm 23% was observed in the 5% and 10% PEG 8000 treatment, respectively. A further

increase of \pm 67% was observed in the 20% PEG 8000 treated chia plants (Figure 4.10 B).

For GR 2, no significant changes were detected in the 5% and 10% PEGinduced water stress plants (Figure 4.10 B). On the contrary, there was an increase of approximately 45% observed for the 20% PEG 8000 treated plants (Figure 4.10 B). A similar trend was observed for GR 3, where no changes were detected for the 5% and 10% PEG treated chia plants and an increase of approximately 49% observed for the 20% PEG 8000 treated plants (Figure 4.10 B).



Figure 4.10: The effect of water stress on GR activity in chia leaves. In-gel active assays were performed on chia leaf tissues treated for 14 days. (A) Individual GR isoforms (B) densitometry analysis of relative GR expression. The data represents the mean (\pm SE) of 3 independent experiments from 3 biological repeats in each experiment. Means with different letters are statistically different from each other (p < 0.05).

4.3 Discussion

The work presented in this chapter analysed the influence of PEG-induced water stress (imposed by different concentration of PEG 8000) on the biochemical responses of chia plants. We analysed changes in ROS accumulation under stress conditions and evaluated the antioxidant capacity of chia plants to mitigate the negative effects caused by these ROS molecules.

4.3.1 PEG- induced water stress influences the ROS accumulation and oxidative damage

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) production/accumulation has been documented as a natural occurring consequence of cellular metabolism (Halliwell, 2006; de Rio *et al.*, 2006). ROS accumulation as a result of environmental stresses is one of the leading factors that limits crop production worldwide (Gill *et al.*, 2010, Ahsan *et a*., 2003). This study focused primarily on two ROS biomarker, namely superoxide and hydrogen peroxide and their role in chia plants under PEG-induced water stress.

The results presented in this chapter showed that with increased PEG concentrations there was an exponential increase in O_2^- content (Figure 4.1 A). This observation was also documented in a study by Kapoor *et al.* (2011) the authors demonstrated that accumulation of O_2^- was impacted by water stress in different rice cultivars. The scavenging of O_2^- by superoxide

dismutase results in the formation/production of hydrogen peroxide and if not controlled can lead to oxidative damage and ultimate cellular death manifested as reduced plant biomass as observed in chapter 3 (Figure 3.4).

Similar to what was observed for superoxide accumulation under stress treatments there was a significant increase in hydrogen peroxide accumulation (Figure 4.1 B), partly from the scavenging of superoxide anions but also via other mechanisms. However, under optimal conditions hydrogen peroxide can serve a signalling molecule to aid in plants' defence against abiotic stress at intermediate levels (Cheeseman *et al.*, 2007). The results showed that under low and moderately high PEG concentrations (5% and 10%) hydrogen peroxide levels were statistically similar to that of the control (Figure 4.1 B). However, under high PEG concentrations, hydrogen peroxide levels were significantly enhanced which resulted in increased oxidative damage. This effect has been observed in various other studies (Hernandez *et al.*, 2010; Smirnoff and Wheeler, 2002). An excessive accumulation of these ROS molecules can lead to detrimental effects on the plants like the peroxidation of lipids and ultimately cellular death in severe conditions.

The peroxidation of lipids is considered the most detrimental processes that are known to occur in living organisms (Garg and Manchanda, 2009). Literature suggests that lipid peroxidation is a precursor of ROS overproduction and accumulation, by peroxidation of membrane lipids (Ahuja *et al.*, 2015). The increase in ROS accumulation resulted in enhanced oxidative stress manifested as increased lipid peroxidation (Figure 4.2 A). The increase in lipid peroxidation may be attributed to the lack of antioxidant capacity to ROS resulting from stress conditions (Boughalleb *et al.*, 2015). This phenomenon was supported by Mirzee *et al.* (2013), who showed that higher PEG concentrations increased lipid peroxidation (denoted as MDA content) in Canola plants. The excessive accumulation of ROS in plants causes damage to important cellular compartments that are involved in important metabolic functions required for plants survival, such as the chloroplast, pigments and nucleic acids. Damage to these important cellular components ultimately results in cell death (Figure 4.2 B).

Therefore, observed increase in cell death in response to water stress imposed by PEG 8000 (Figure 4.2 B), can be associated with the conferred increase in lipid peroxidation. In a study by Wang and colleagues (2010) gave an indication that the cell death observed in this study is associated with programmed cell death pathway. This increase in cell death may be associated with the increase in the accumulation of ROS which subsequently led to increase in lipid peroxidation (Wang *et al.*, 2010). Increase in cell death means that most or all of the cellular compartments will not be functional and therefore certain important metabolic processes will not take place, one of the most important for plant survival being photosynthesis which was discussed in chapter 3 (Figure 3.5). Plants do however have mechanisms to cope with the detrimental effects of oxidative stress when under extreme stress conditions. Plants have developed antioxidant defence systems, which include antioxidant enzymes such as SOD, APX, CAT and GR (Wang *et al.*, 2010).

4.3.2 Water stress modulates antioxidant enzymatic activity in chia plants

In this study a clear link has been established between the decreases in plant biomass as well as excessive accumulation of ROS molecules which results in lipid peroxidation and ultimately cellular death. Therefore, an assessment of the antioxidant defence system was evaluated. The antioxidant system of chia was differentially regulated in response to water stress induced by the different PEG treatments. In this study, measurements of the enzymatic activities (total enzymatic activity and the individual isoform intensities) of SOD, CAT, APX and GR were analysed.

4.3.2.1 SOD activity was differentially altered in response to PEG 8000

Changes in superoxide dismutase activity were monitored to establish the rate at which superoxide molecules are scavenged. Superoxide dismutase (SOD) is responsible for the dismutation of the highly toxic O_2^- anion to less toxic form H_2O_2 (Gill and Tuteja, 2010). Superoxide dismutase serves as the first defence against uncontrolled oxidation during unfavourable conditions.

As reported by Cruz de Carvalho (2008), SOD includes the conversion of singlet oxygen molecules which are highly reactive into more stable hydrogen peroxide.

In this present study, SOD activity was increased by both 5% and 10% PEG 8000 treatments with a significant decrease observed in the 20% treatment (Figure 4.3). The decrease in the SOD activity observed in chia might be indicative of the overproduction of ROS that inactivated SOD proteins as reported for other plant species (Suis *et al.*, 2015). However, the increase in SOD activity observed in the lower PEG concentrations (5% and 10%) (Figure 4.3) could be a direct consequence of the superoxide accumulation. Thereby, supporting the notion that the excessive increase in the superoxide (Figure 4.1 A) lead to the inactivation of the SOD proteins and thus the decrease in activity as observed in the 20% treatment (Figure 4.3).

Subsequently, chia leaves were subjected to native PAGE analysis in order to identify potential isoforms contributing to the total SOD activity (Figure 4.4). Three MnSOD isoforms were identified in the samples supplemented with different PEG concentrations (5%, 10% and 20%). The presence of enhanced expression of MnSOD isoforms in 5% and 10% PEG 8000 treated plants indicates that at low to moderated levels of water stress chia has better scavenging capacity for O_2^- . Moreover, it can be suggested from the results that the increased expression of MnSOD 3 could be contributed to the higher increased levels of the total SOD activity in the 10% PEG treated plants. This

further suggests that MnSOD 3 could be considered as potential candidate for water stress tolerance, due to the enhanced activity of this isoform. The expression of all three MnSOD isoforms were reduced in 20% PEG treated chia leaves. This further correlated to the reduced total SOD activity and it can thus be implicated that at this PEG concentration there was a degradation of mitochondria and/or peroxisomes as MnSOD is found to be localised in these cellular compartments.

These findings and the fact that at 20% PEG chia plants accumulated higher levels of H_2O_2 lead to further the investigation of the antioxidant enzyme (ascorbate peroxidase) that has a high affinity for detoxifying H_2O_2 .



4.3.2.2 Water stress modulates hydrogen peroxide scavenging antioxidant enzyme activity

APX activity is differentially altered by PEG-induced water stress in chia plants

Ascorbate peroxidase (APX) is described as one of the most important ROSscavenging antioxidant enzymes, which are involved in plants defence mechanisms by detoxifying H₂O₂ to dehydroascorbate and H₂O using ascorbate (AsA) as an electric donor (Shigeoka *et al.*, 2002; Caverzan *et al.*, 2016). The importance of APX is not restricted to one cellular organelle; it plays a role in ROS scavenging in the chloroplast, cytosol, mitochondria and peroxisomes (Asada, 1992; Noctor and Foyer, 1998; Mittler *et al.*, 2004). The role of APX 1 has been widely studied in plants and most results have demonstrated that, in response to environmental stress. According to Shigeoka *et al.* (2002) APX activity generally increases in response to drought stress, this increase was also documented in this report across all treatments with 10% PEG treated plants having the highest increase (Figure 4.5).

In parallel with the results obtained for the total APX activity, three APX isoforms where detected using native PAGE (Figure 4.6 A). The three APX isoforms that were identified in chia (APX 1, APX 2 and APX 3) were not further classified due to limited sequence information available in the public domain for chia. Interestingly, a fourth APX isoform was found in the 10% PEG treated samples (Figure 4.6 A). The presence of the additional fourth APX isoform in 10% PEG treated chia plants can be correlated to enhanced APX total activity (Figure 4.5). It can be further stipulated that a moderate levels of water stress, chia shows enhanced mechanisms of tolerance.

Furthermore, no significant changes were observed for 5% PEG treated plants in APX 1, however, there were slight increases observed for APX 2 and APX 3 (Figure 4.6 B). These low changes can be interlinked to low levels of hydrogen peroxide that were detected (Figure 4.1 B). This is also further supported by the fact that at lower concentrations of PEG (5%), chia showed the least oxidative damage (indicated by ROS accumulation, lipid peroxidation and cell death). Moreover, although there were increases

across all APX isoforms in the 20% PEG treated chia plants, (which was also reflected in the total APX activity) this increase was inefficient to counter the increase of H_2O_2 and all other oxidative stress markers.

CAT activity is differentially altered by PEG- induced water stress in chia plants

Analysis of recent literature suggested that an increase in CAT activity is generally positively related to the degree of water deficit experienced by plants (Piheiro et al., 2010; Faize and Chaves, 2011). For CAT activity, no significant changes was observed when plants were treated with low to moderately high concentration of PEG 8000. However, a significant increase in CAT activity was observed in the high PEG 8000 (20%) treatment (Figure 4.7 A). This implicated that CAT has a higher affinity than APX for the removal of photorespiratory H₂O₂ produced in chia plants when subjected to water stress, especially under severe degrees of water stress (Sofo *et al.,* 2015).

In contrast to APX isoforms, CAT isoforms are limited to removal of H_2O_2 in the peroxisomes by photorespiration (Noctor *et al.*, 2000). Therefore, the results presented in this study illustrated the detection of two CAT isoforms. The densitometry analysis (Figure 4.8 B) showed that increases in CAT 1 activity were only detected in 20 % PEG treated chia leaves. This subsequent increase was supported by result by Kim *et al.*, 2005 and Zhang *et al.*, 2012. Conversely, CAT 2 was only detected on 10% and 20% PEG treatments. This suggests that this isoform could serve as a CAT biomarker for chia plants experiencing water stress. This could further suggest that at lower concentrations of water stress (5%) chia limits the demand for active enzymatic CAT in the peroxisome given the reduction in ROS molecules present in the plant at this concentration (Figure 4.1).

4.3.2.3 Glutathione reductase activity is altered by PEG-induced water stress in chia leaves

Glutathione reductase (GR) is the last enzyme in the ascorbate-glutathione cycle and is also crucial for H_2O_2 detoxification in green leaves (Foyer and Harbinson, 1994). GR has a central role of maintaining the reduced glutathione (GSH) pool during stress conditions (Hossain *et al.*, 2012). Therefore, it was important to evaluate the regulation of this enzyme in chia plants when treated with the varying concentrations of PEG 8000. The GR total was increased in 20% PEG treated chia leaves, which is in supported by Lai *et al.*, (2007), the authors demonstrated an enhanced GR activity in leaves treated with 40% PEG. On the contrary, there were slight reductions in the 5% and 10% PEG treated plants respectively. This slight reduction has been suggested to occur at low to moderate levels of water stress imposed by PEG (Cruz de Carvalho, 2008). Furthermore, it is likely that the enhanced expression levels of SOD and APX could be directly linked to the levels ROS

molecules present in chia plants, thus the lower expression of GR at these concentrations.

This significant reduction in the 5% and 10% PEG treated plants was further correlated with detected three GR isoforms (Figure 4.10). Although there were enhanced levels of GR in the 20% treated plants, however the results suggest that this increase in the GR activity as insufficient for the regeneration of GSH in plants. Thus, the end result of insufficient GSH regeneration in plants is what led to the accumulation of ROS and the incredibly high cell death that was reported in the 20% treated plant (Figure

4.1 and 4.2).

UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE

CONCLUSION AND FUTURE REMARKS

Water deficit stresses manifested as water stress have detrimental effects on the human population globally. These effects pose more threats on the agricultural sector of developing countries especially in arid and semi-arid environments. Despite the well-studied effects of drought on cereals such as maize, there is yet to be any molecular work on chia that investigates this plant as an alternative food crop. Thus this work aims to form part of a long term vision that will have an impact on the food insecurity, malnutrition and poverty problems that Africa faces.

This work was described in two research chapters. Chapter three described the effects of increasing concentrations of water stress on chia germination rate, growth parameters, biomass production and on the photosynthetic metabolism. Increasing water stress induced by PEG 8000 concentrations conferred a reduction in the germination rate and morphology of seeds (Figure 3.2). Elevated concentrations of PEG 8000 (20 %) further reduced physiological parameters marker, presenting a reduction in plant growth (Figure 3.3), biomass (Figure 3.4) and increased photo-inhibition (Figure 3.5). This study showed correlations between the decrease osmotic potential of the PEG 8000 solutions (Figure 3.1) and the reduction in germination rate and morphology and the physiological parameters described. The reduction of physiological parameters at high PEG concentrations was also supported by the accumulation of ROS and the alteration of the antioxidant enzyme capacity that was investigated in Chapter 4.

Chapter four analysed the biochemical responses of chia to PEG-induced water stress, by monitoring ROS metabolism and antioxidant capacity. The molecular responses of chia to water stress are yet to be described in literature and thus this study was the first to describe the effects of increasing PEG-induced stress on the biochemical responses of chia. Water stress significantly enhanced ROS biomarkers in chia leaves, a phenomenon that is well documented in literature (Figure 4.1 and 4.2). These results further implicated that deleterious effects observed in the plant physiological parameters were caused by the enhanced levels of ROS molecules. Overproduction of ROS is known to lead to oxidative damage and UNIVERSITY of the ultimately cell death. Hence, there was an increase in the lipid peroxidation which was correlated to the increase in the cell death (Figure 4.2 A-B) with the most significant increase in the 10% and 20% treated plants. However, plants have detoxification mechanisms and in this study we evaluated how the antioxidant enzymes (SOD, APX, CAT and GR) are regulated in chia plants induced with osmotic stress. The differential regulation of antioxidant enzyme activity (as seen for changes in individual isoforms) in this study suggest these enzyme (individual isoforms) can be potential biomarkers to improve water stress tolerance in chia plants.

Therefore, it can be concluded from this study that chia has some level of tolerance to water stress at low to moderate concentrations but shows signs of sensitivity at higher concentrations. However, further research is required to support this hypothesis. Therefore, a comparative analysis of the leaf and root proteome will be analysed using gel based proteomics. This will allow us to identify and functionally characterise differentially expressed proteins under various treatment conditions that could serves as potential biomarkers to enhance stress tolerance in chai plants. To note, the work presented in this thesis is the first of its kind that evaluated the influence of PEG-induced water stress on physiological and biochemical responses of chia

plants.

UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE

REFERENCES

Abdu-Raheem, K. A., & Worth, S. H. (2011). Household food security in South Africa: Evaluating extension's paradigms relative to the current food security and development goals. *South African Journal of Agricultural Extension 39*, 91-103.

Ahmad, S., Khan, H., Shahab, U., Rehman, S., Rafi, Z., Khan, M. Y., & Habib, S. (2017). Protein oxidation: An overview of metabolism of sulphur containing amino acid, cysteine. *Frontiers of Bioscience 9*, 71-87.

- Ahsan, H., Ali, A., & Ali, R. (2003). Oxygen free radicals and systemic autoimmunity. *Clinical & Experimental Immunology* 131, 398-404.
- Ahuja, L. R., Naney, J. W., & Williams, R. D. (2005). Estimating soil water characteristics from simpler properties or limited data. *Soil Science Society of America Journal 49*, 1100-1105.
- Alemayehu, F., Bendevis, M. A., & Jacobsen, S. E. (2015). The potential for utilizing the seed crop amaranth (Amaranthus spp.) in East Africa as an alternative crop to support food security and climate change mitigation. *Journal of Agronomy and Crop Science 201*, 321-329.
- Ali, N., Yeap, S. K., Ho, W. Y., Beh, B. K., Tan, S. W., & Tan, S. G. (2012). The promising future of chia, *Salvia hispanica* L. *Biomedical Research International 2.* 1-19.

- Ali, S., Liu, Y., Ishaq, M., Shah, T., Ilyas, A., & Din, I. U. (2017). Climate Change and Its Impact on the Yield of Major Food Crops: Evidence from Pakistan. *Foods 6*, 39.
- Altman, M., Hart, T., & Jacobs, P. (2009). Household food security status in South Africa. *Agrekon 48*, 345-361.
- Alvarado, V., & Bradford, K. J. (2002). A hydrothermal time model explains the cardinal temperatures for seed germination. *Plant, Cell & Environment 25*, 1061-1069.
- Alvarez-Jubete, L., Arendt, E. K., & Gallagher, E. (2010). Nutritive value of pseudocereals and their increasing use as functional gluten-free ingredients. *Trends in Food Science and Technology 21*, 106-113.

Antruejo, A., Azcona, J. O., Garcia, P. T., Gallinger, C., Rosmini, M., Ayerza,
 R., & Perez, C. D. (2011). Omega-3 enriched egg production: The effect of α-linolenic ω-3 fatty acid sources on laying hen performance and yolk lipid content and fatty acid composition. *British Poultry science 52*, 750-760.

- Apel, K., & Hirt, H. (2004). Reactive oxygen species: Metabolism, oxidative stress, and signal transduction. Annual Review Plant Physiology 55, 373-399.
- Arfan, M., Athar, H. R., & Ashraf, M. (2007). Does exogenous application of salicylic acid through the rooting medium modulate growth and

photosynthetic capacity in two differently adapted spring wheat cultivars under salt stress? *Journal of Plant Physiology 164*, 685-694.

- **Asada, K.** (1984). Chloroplasts: Formation of active oxygen and its scavenging. In *Methods in enzymology 105*, 422-429. Academic Press.
- **Asada, K.** (1992). Ascorbate peroxidase–a hydrogen peroxide-scavenging enzyme in plants. *Physiologia Plantarum 8,* 235-241.
- Ashraf, M., & Foolad, M. (2007). Roles of glycine betaine and proline in improving plant abiotic stress resistance. *Environmental and Experimental Botany 59*, 206-216.

Athar, H. R., & Ashraf, M. (2005). Does exogenous application of salicylic acid through the rooting medium modulate growth and UNIVERSITY of the photosynthetic capacity in two differently adapted spring wheat cultivars under salt stress? *Journal of Plant Physiology 164*, 685-694.

- Ayerza, R. & Coates, W. (1999). An ω -3 fatty acid enriched chia diet: Influence on egg fatty acid composition, cholesterol and oil content. *Canadian Journal of Animal Science 79*, 53-58.
- Ayerza R. & Coates W.(2009). Some quality components of four chia (Salvia hispanica L.) genotypes grown under tropical coastal desert ecosystem conditions. Asian Journal of Plant Sciences 8, 301-307.

- **Ayerza, R.** (2016). Crop year effects on seed yields, growing cycle length, and chemical composition of chia (*Salvia hispanica* L) growing in Ecuador and Bolivia. *Emirates Journal of Food and Agriculture* 28, 196-200.
- Ayerza, R. & Coates, W. (2009). Chia (*Salvia hispanica* L.) seed as an n-3 fatty acid source for finishing pigs: Effects on fatty acid composition and fat stability of the meat and internal fat, growth performance, and meat sensory characteristics. *Journal of Animal Science 87*, 3798-3804.
- Ayerza, R. (1995). Oil content and fatty acid composition of chia (*Salvia hispanica* L.) from five north western locations in Argentina. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society* 72, 1079-1081.
- Bashan, N., Kovsan, J., Kachko, I., Ovadia, H., & Rudich, A. (2009). Positive and negative regulation of insulin signalling by reactive oxygen and mitrogen species. *Physiological Reviews 89*, 27-71.
- Basu, P. S., Ali, M., & Chaturvedi, S. K. (2004, September). Adaptation of photosynthetic components of chickpea to water stress. In 4th International Crop Science Congress.
- **Beauchamp C & Fridovich I** (1971). Superoxide dismutase: improved assays and an assay applicable to acrylamide gels. *Analytical Biochemistry* 44, 276-287.

- Bellard, C., Bertelsmeier, C., Leadley, P., Thuiller, W., & Courchamp, F. (2012). Impacts of climate change on the future of biodiversity. *Ecology Letters* 15, 365-377.
- Berti, C., Riso, P., Brusamolino, A., & Porrini, M. (2005). Effect on appetite control of minor cereal and pseudocereal products. *British Journal of Nutrition 94*, 850-858.
- Bhattacharjee, S. (2005). Reactive oxygen species and oxidative burst: Roles in stress, senescence and signal transducation in plants. *Current Science*, 1113-1121.



- Binswanger-Mkhize, H. P. (2009, June). Challenges and opportunities for african agriculture and food security. *In Expert Meeting on How to Feed the World 1*, 12-16.
- Birben, E., Sahiner, U. M., Sackesen, C., Erzurum, S., & Kalayci, O. (2012). Oxidative stress and antioxidant defence. *World Allergy Organization Journal 5*, 1-9.
- Blokhina, O., Virolainen, E., & Fagerstedt, K. V. (2003). Antioxidants, oxidative damage and oxygen deprivation stress: a review. *Annals of Botany 9*, 179-194.
- **Blum, A.** (2017). Osmotic adjustment is a prime drought stress adaptive engine in support of plant production. *Plant, cell & environment, 40*(1), 4-10.

- Boguszewska, D., Grudkowska, M., & Zagdańska, B. (2010). Drought responsive antioxidant enzymes in potato (Solanum tuberosum
 L.). Potato research 53, 373-382.
- Boughalleb, F., Abdellaoui, R., Hadded, Z., & Neffati, M. (2015). Anatomical adaptations of the desert species *Stipa lagascae* against drought stress. *Biologica 70*, 1042-1052.
- Bright, J., Desikan, R., Hancock, J. T., Weir, I. S., & Neill, S. J. (2006). ABA-induced NO generation and stomatal closure in Arabidopsis are dependent on H₂O₂ synthesis. *The Plant Journal 45*, 113-122.

nenenenen,

- **Bwalya, M.** (2013). Comprehensive Africa Agriculture Development Programme (CAADP) to reduce food security emergencies in Africa. *Johannesburg: NEPAD Planning and Coordinating Agency*.
- **Cakmak, I., & Marschner, H.** (1992). Magnesium deficiency and high light intensity enhance activities of superoxide dismutase, ascorbate peroxidase, and glutathione reductase in bean leaves. *Plant physiology 98*, 1222-1227.
- Caliborne, A. L. (1985). Assay of catalase. Handbook of Oxygen Radical Research. Ed. Greenward, RA, CRC Press, Baco-Raton, 283-284.
- Capitani, M. I., Spotorno, V., Nolasco, S. M., & Tomás, M. C. (2012). Physicochemical and functional characterization of by-products from

chia (*Salvia hispanica* L.) seeds of Argentina. *LWT-Food Science and Technology 45,* 94-102.

- Cardoza, V., & Neal Stewart, C. (2006). Canola (*Brassica napus* L.). *Agrobacterium protocols*, 257-266.
- **Caverzan, A., Casassola, A., & Brammer, S. P.** (2016). Antioxidant responses of wheat plants under stress. *Genetics and Molecular Biology 39*, 1-6.
- Chandlee, J. M., & Scandalios, J. G. (1983). Expression of the developmentally regulated catalase (Cat) genes in maize. *Genesis 4*,

281-293.

Chaudhary, B., Hovav, R., Flagel, L., Mittler, R., & Wendel, J. F. (2009). Parallel expression evolution of oxidative stress-related genes in fibre from wild and domesticated diploid and polyploid cotton (*Gossypium*). *Biomedical Center of Genomics 10*, 378.

- Chaves, M. M., Maroco, J. P., and Pereira, J. S. (2003). Understanding plant responses to drought- rom genes to the whole plant. *Functional Plant Biology 30,* 239-264.
- Chaves, M.M., Costa, J.M., Saibo, N. J. M. (2011). Recent advances in photosynthesis under drought and salinity. In M. Kader, J-C and Delseny (Ed.), Plant Responses to drought and Salinity stress: Developments in a Post-Genomic. Academic Press. Era 57, 49.

Cheeseman, J. M. (2007). Hydrogen peroxide and plant stress: A challenging relationship. *Plant Stress 1*, 4-15.

Colín-González, A. L., Santana, R. A., Silva-Islas, C. A., Chánez-Cárdenas, M.

- **E., Santamaría, A., & Maldonado, P. D.** (2012). The antioxidant mechanisms underlying the aged garlic extract-and S-allylcysteine-induced protection. *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity 2012,* 1-13.
- Crawford, F., Deards, B., Moir, B., & Thompson, N. (2012). Human consumption of hemp seed: prospects for Australian production. *Fishery and Foresty. Department of Agriculture 1,* 1-5.
- Cruz de Carvalho, M. H. (2008). Drought stress and reactive oxygen species: production, scavenging and signaling. *Plant Signaling & Behavior 3*, 156-165.
- Daniells S (2013). Chia boom: With 239% growth, chia category set to hit \$1 bn by 2020. Super grains! From chia to quinoa (accessed 16 March 2016). Available online at: <u>http://www.foodnavigatorusa.com/Markets/Chia- boom-With-239-growth-chia-categoryset-tohit-1-bn-by-2020.</u>
- Das, K., & Roychoudhury, A. (2014). Reactive oxygen species (ROS) and response of antioxidants as ROS-scavengers during environmental stress in plants. *Frontiers in Environmental Science 2*, 53.

- Davidson, D. J., & Chevalier, P. M. (1987). Influence of polyethylene glycolinduced water deficits on tiller production in spring wheat. *Crop science*, 27, 1185-1187.
- de Freitas T.F, Rissato B.B., Muller A.L., Brustolin D.B., Coltro-Roncato S., Dildey O.D.F., de Frietas G.P. & Mendonca-Muller H.F.C. (2016). Development and production of chia (*Salvia hispanica* L.) in different space arrangements. *African Journal of Agricultural Research 11*, 4384-4388.

de Rio L. A., Airaki, M., Leterrier, M., Mateos, R. M., Valderrama, R., Chaki, M., Barroso, J. B., ... & Corpas, F. J. (2006). Metabolism of reactive oxygen species and reactive nitrogen species in pepper (*Capsicum annuum* L.) plants under low temperature stress. *Plant, Cell & Environment 35*, 281-295.

- Drimie, S., & McLachlan, M. (2013). Food security in South Africa—first steps toward a transdisciplinary approach. *Food Security* 5, 217-226.
- El-Kablawy, A., & Al-Rawai. (2005). Effects of salinity, temperature and light on germination of invasive *Prosopis juliflora* (Sw) DC. *Journal of Arid Environments 6*, 555-556.
- **Esterbauer, H., & Grill, D.** (1978). Seasonal variation of glutathione and glutathione reductase in needles of Picea abies. *Plant Physiology* 61, 119-121.

- Faize, M., Burgos, L., Faize, L., Piqueras, A., Nicolas, E., Barba-Espin, G., & Hernandez, J. A. (2011). Involvement of cytosolic ascorbate peroxidase and Cu/Zn-superoxide dismutase for improved tolerance against drought stress. *Journal of Experimental Botany 62*, 2599-2613.
- Farquhar, G. D., Ehleringer, J. R., & Hubick, K. T. (1989). Carbon isotope discrimination and photosynthesis. Annual Review of Plant Biology 40, 503-537.
- Fatma, N., Kubo, E., Sen, M., Agarwal, N., Thoreson, W. B., Camras, C. B., & Singh, D. P. (2008). Peroxiredoxin 6 delivery attenuates TNF-α-and glutamate-induced retinal ganglion cell death by limiting ROS levels and maintaining Ca 2+ homeostasis. *Plant Research 1233*, 63-78.
- Fernandez, I., Vidueiros, S. M., Ayerza, R., Coates, W., & Pallaro, A. (2008). Impact of chia (*Salvia hispanica* L. (on the immune system: preliminary study. *The Proceedings of the Nutrition Society* 67, 1-5.
- Finch-Savage, W. E., & Leubner-Metzger, G. (2006). Seed dormancy and the control of germination. *New phytologist 17*, 501-523.
- Fisher, M., Abate, T., Lunduka, R. W., Asnake, W., Alemayehu, Y., & Madulu, R. B. (2015). Drought tolerant maize for farmer adaptation to drought in sub-Saharan Africa: Determinants of adoption in eastern and southern Africa. *Climatic Change* 133.283-299.
- Fita, A., Rodríguez-Burruezo, A., Boscaiu, M., Prohens, J., & Vicente, O. (2015). Breeding and domesticating crops adapted to drought and salinity: a new paradigm for increasing food production. *Frontiers in Plant Science 6*, 11-15.
- Flowers, T. J., Troke, P. F., & Yeo, A. R. (1977). The mechanism of salt tolerance in halophytes. *Annual Review of Plant Physiology 28*, 89-121.

Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations (FAO), (1996).



- **Foyer, C. H., & Harbinson, J.** (1994). Oxygen metabolism and the regulation of photosynthetic electron transport. *Causes of photooxidative stress and amelioration of defense systems in plants 21*, 1-42.
- Foyer, C. H., & Noctor, G. (2003). Redox sensing and signalling associated with reactive oxygen in chloroplasts, peroxisomes and mitochondria. *Physiologia plantarum*, *119*, 355-364.

- Foyer, C. H., & Noctor, G. (2005). Oxidant and antioxidant signalling in plants: a re-evaluation of the concept of oxidative stress in a physiological context. *Plant, Cell and Environment 28*, 1056-1071.
- **Fricke, W.** (1997). Cell turgor, osmotic pressure and water potential in the upper epidermis of barley leaves in relation to cell location and in response to NaCl and air humidity. *Journal of Experimental Botany 48*, 45-58.
- Garg, N., & Manchanda, G. (2009). ROS generation in plants: boon or bane?. *Plant Biosystems 143*, 81-96.

Genty, B., Briantais, J. M., & Baker, N. R. (1989). The relationship between the quantum yield of photosynthetic electron transport and quenching of chlorophyll fluorescence. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* (BPA) Caparal Subjects 000, 87,02

(BBA)-General Subjects 990, 87-92.

- Gill, P. K., Sharma, A. D., Singh, P., & Bhullar, S. S. (2002). Osmotic stressinduced changes in germination, growth and soluble sugar content of *Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench seeds. *Bulgaria Journal of Plant Physiology 28*, 12-25.
- Gill, S. S., & Tuteja, N. (2010). Reactive oxygen species and antioxidant machinery in abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants. *Plant Physiology* and Biochemistry 48, 909-930.

- Gill, S. S., & Tuteja, N. (2011). Cadmium stress tolerance in crop plants: probing the role of sulphur. *Plant Signalling and Behaviour 6*, 215-222.
- Godfrey, H. C., Beddington, J. R., Crute, I. R., Haddad, L., Lawrence, D., Muir, J. F., & Toulmin, C. (2010). Food Security: The Challenge of Feeding 9 Billion *People. Science 327*, 812-818.
- Gokul, A., Roode, E., Klein, A., & Keyster, M. (2016). Exogenous 3, 3'diindolylmethane increases *Brassica napus* L. seedling shoot growth through modulation of superoxide and hydrogen peroxide content. *Journal of Plant Physiology* 196, 93-98.
- Gregory, P. J., Ingram, J. S., & Brklacich, M. (2005). Climate change and food security. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences 360, 2139-2148.
- **Halliwell, B**. (2006). Reactive species and antioxidants. Redox biology is a fundamental theme of aerobic life. *Plant Physiology* 141, 312-322.
- Harborne, J. (1973). Phytochemical methods, a guide to modern techniques of plant analysis, JB Harborne. *Chapman. London. GB*.
- Hasegawa, P. M., Bressan, R. A., Zhu, J. K., & Bohnert, H. J. (2000). Plant cellular and molecular responses to high salinity. *Annual Review of Plant biology 51*, 463-499.

- Hernández, E. I., Vilagrosa, A., Pausas, J. G., & Bellot, J. (2010). Morphological traits and water use strategies in seedlings of Mediterranean coexisting species. *Plant Ecology 207*, 233-244.
- Heuer, B., Yaniv, Z., & Ravina, I. (2002). Effect of late salinization of chia (Salvia hispanica), stock (Matthiola tricuspidata) and evening primrose (Oenothera biennis) on their oil content and quality. Industrial Crops and Products 15, 163-167.
- Ho, T. H. D., & Sachs, M. M. (1989). Stress-induced proteins: characterization and the regulation of their synthesis. *The Biochemistry of Plants 15*, 347-378.
- Hussain S. M., Miller, G., Salazar, C., Mondal, H. A., Shulaev, E., Cortes, D.
 F., & Shulaev, V. (2013). Temporal-spatial interaction between western cape.
 reactive oxygen species and abscisic acid regulates rapid systemic acclimation in plants. *The Plant Cell 25*, 3553-3569.
- Igram, J., Ericksen, P., & Liverman, D. (2012). Food security and global environmental change. Routledge 2012, 17-21.
- Ixtaina, V. Y., Mattea, F., Cardarelli, D. A., Mattea, M. A., Nolasco, S. M., & Tomás, M. C. (2011). Supercritical carbon dioxide extraction and characterization of Argentinean chia seed oil. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society 88*, 289-298.

- Jakop, M., Bavec, F., Turinek, M., Bavec, M., & Grobelnik Mlakar, S. (2009). Nutrition value and use of grain amaranth: potential future application and bread making. *Agricultural 2*, 43-53.
- Jarvis, A., Upadhyaya, H. D., Gowda, C. L. L., Agrawal, P. K., Fujisaka, S., & Anderson, B. (2008). Climate change and its effect on conservation and use of plant genetic resources for food and agriculture and associated biodiversity for food security. *Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, UK*.
- Joseph CP (2004). Genetic diversity among varieties of chia (*Salvia hispanica* L.). *Genetic Resources and Crop Evolution* 51, 773-781.
- Junglee, S., Urban, L., Sallanon, H., & Lopez-Lauri, F. (2014). Optimized assay for hydrogen peroxide determination in plant tissue using potassium

iodide. American Journal of Analytical Chemistry 5, 730.

- Kapoor, N., Arya, A., Siddiqui, M. A., Kumar, H., & Amir, A. (2011). Physiological and biochemical changes during seed deterioration in aged seeds of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *American Journal of Plant Physiology* 6, 28-35.
- Kasote, D. M., Katyare, S. S., Hegde, M. V., & Bae, H. (2015). Significance of antioxidant potential of plants and its relevance to therapeutic applications. *International Journal of Biological Sciences* 11, 982.

- Kaufmann, M. R., & Eckard, A. N. (2008). Water potential and temperature effects on germination of Engelmann spruce and Lodgepole pine seeds. *Forest Science 123*, 27-33.
- Kaur, K. & Gupta, A. P. (2005). Impact of organic manures with and without mineral fertilizers on soil chemical and biological properties under tropical conditions. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science 168*, 117-122.
- Keim, D. L., & Kronstad, W. E. (1981). Drought response of winter wheat cultivars grown under field stress conditions. *Crop Science 21*, 11-15.
- Kirkman, H. N., & Gaetani, G. F. (2007). Mammalian catalase: a venerable enzyme with new mysteries. *Trends in biochemical sciences 32*, 44-50.
- Klein, A., Keyster, M., & Ludidi, N. (2015). Response of soybean nodules to exogenously applied caffeic acid during NaCl-induced salinity. South African Journal of Botany 96, 13-18.
- Klennert, K. (2009). Achieving food and nutrition security. Actions to Meet the Global Challenge 1, 2-8

Kliebenstein, D. J., Dietrich, R. A., Martin, A. C., Last, R. L., & Dangl, J. L. (1999). LSD1 regulates salicylic acid induction of copper zinc superoxide dismutase in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions 12*, 1022-1026.

- Knox, J., Hess, T., Daccache, A., & Wheeler, T. (2012). Climate change impacts on crop productivity in Africa and South Asia. *Environmental Research Letters* 7, 034032.
- Laemmli, J. K. (1970). SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis of protein. Nature 2, 680-685.
- Lai, Q. X., Bao, Z. Y., Zhu, Z. J., Qian, Q. Q., & Mao, B. Z. (2007). Effects of osmotic stress on antioxidant enzymes activities in leaf discs of PSAG12-IPT modified gerbera. *Journal of Zhejiang University Science B 8*, 458-464.



Landjeva, S., Neumann, K., Lohwasser, U., & Börner, A. (2008). Molecular mapping of genomic regions associated with wheat seedling growth under osmotic stress. *Biologia Plantarum 52*, 259-266.

Le Gall, H., Philippe, F., Domon, J. M., Gillet, F., Pelloux, J., & Rayon, C. (2015). Cell wall metabolism in response to abiotic stress *Plants 4*, 112-166.

- Lee, D. H., Kim, Y. S., & Lee, C. B. (2001). The inductive responses of the antioxidant enzymes by salt stress in the rice (Oryza sativa L.). *Journal of Plant Physiology 158*, 737-745.
- Léder, I. (2009). Buckwheat, amaranth, and other pseudocereal plants. *Encyclopedia of Life Support Systems. Ramsey: EOLSS Publishers Co Ltd 1*, 1-17.

- Lee, D. H., & Lee, C. B. (2000). Chilling stress-induced changes of antioxidant enzymes in the leaves of cucumber: in gel enzyme activity assays. *Plant Science 159*, 75-85.
- Libik-Konieczny, M., Konieczny, R., Surówka, E., Ślesak, I., Michalec, Ż., Rozpądek, P., & Miszalski, Z. (2012). Pathways of ROS homeostasis regulation in *Mesembryanthemum crystallinum* L. calli exhibiting differences in rhizogenesis. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* (*PCTOC*) 110, 123-131.
- Lin, K. Y., Daniel, J. R., & Whistler, R. L. (1994). Structure of chia seed polysaccharide exudate. *Carbohydrate Polymers 23*(1), 13-18.
- Lokhande, V. H., Nikam, T. D., & Penna, S. (2010). Biochemical, physiological and growth changes in response to salinity in callus cultures of Sesuvium portulacastrum L. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* (*PCTOC*) 102, 17-25.
- Loreto, F., & Schnitzler, J. P. (2010). Abiotic stresses and induced BVOCs. *Trends in plant science 15*, 154-166.
- Lotfi, R., Pessarakli, M., Gharavi-Kouchebagh, P., & Khoshvaghti, H. (2015). Physiological responses of Brassica napus to fulvic acid under water stress: Chlorophyll a fluorescence and antioxidant enzyme activity. *The Crop Journal 3*, 434-439.

- Luzuriaga, A. L., Escudero, A., & Pérez-garcía, F. (2006). Environmental maternal effects on seed morphology and germination in *Sinapis arvensis* (Cruciferae). *Weed research 46*, 163-174.
- Mahajan, S., & Tuteja, N. (2012). Cold, salinity and drought stresses: an overview. Archives of biochemistry and biophysics 444, 139-158.
- Masipa, T. S. (2017). The impact of climate change on food security in South Africa: Current realities and challenges ahead. Jàmbá. Journal of Disaster Risk Studies 9, 1-7.
- Mates, J. M. (2000). Effects of antioxidant enzymes in the molecular control of reactive oxygen species toxicology. *Toxicology 153*, 83-104.
- Maxwell, S. (1996). Food security: a post-modern perspective. Food policy 21 UNIVERSITY of the 155-170. WESTERN CAPE
- McMichael, A. J. (2000). The urban environment and health in a world of increasing globalization: issues for developing countries. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization 78*, 1117-1126.
- Mergoum, M., Singh, P. K., Pena, R. J., Lozano-del Río, A. J., Cooper, K. V., Salmon, D. F., & Macpherson, H. G. (2009). Triticale: a "new" crop with old challenges in *Cereals*. Springer US *17*, 267-287.
- Michel, B. E., & Kaufmann, M. R. (1973). The osmotic potential of polyethylene glycol 6000. *Plant Physiology 51*, 914-916.

- Millar, A. H., & Leaver, C. J. (2000). The cytotoxic lipid peroxidation product, 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal, specifically inhibits decarboxylating dehydrogenases in the matrix of plant mitochondria. *FEBS letters 481*, 117-121.
- Miller, G., Shulaev, V., & Mittler, R. (2008). Reactive oxygen signaling and abiotic stress. *Physiologia Plantarum 133*, 481-489.
- Mishra, S., & Das, A. B. (2003). Effect of NaCl on leaf salt secretion and antioxidative enzyme level in roots of a mangrove, *Aegiceras corniculatum*.



- Misra, M. K., Sarwat, M., Bhakuni, P., Tuteja, R., & Tuteja, N. (2009). Oxidative stress and ischemic myocardial syndromes. *Medical Science Monitor 15*, 209-219.
- Mittler, R., Vanderauwera, S., Gollery, M., & Van Breusegem, F. (2004). Reactive oxygen gene network of plants. *Trends in plant science 9*, 490-498.
- Mirzaee, M., Moieni, A., & Ghanati, F. (2013). Effects of drought stress on the lipid peroxidation and antioxidant enzyme activities in two canola (*Brassica napus* L.) cultivars. *Journal of agricultural science and technology* 15, 593-602.

- Monnet, F., Bordas, F., Deluchat, V., & Baudu, M. (2006). Toxicity of copper excess on the lichen Dermatocarpon luridum: antioxidant enzyme activities. *Chemosphere 65*, 1806-1813.
- Most, P., & Papenbrock, J. (2015). Possible roles of plant sulfurtransferases in detoxification of cyanide, reactive oxygen species, selected heavy metals and arsenate. *Molecules 20*, 1410-1423.
- Mourato, M., Reis, R., & Martins, L. L. (2012). Characterization of plant antioxidative system in response to abiotic stresses: a focus on heavy metal toxicity. *Advances in Selected Plant Physiology Aspects 12*, 1-17
- Muhammad, S., & Amusa, N. A. (2005). The important food crops and medicinal plants of north-western Nigeria. *Research Journal of Agricultural Biological Science* 1, 254-260.
- Murthy, H. N., Wu, C. H., & Paek, K. Y. (2010). Sucrose-induced osmotic stress affects biomass, metabolite, and antioxidant levels in root suspension cultures of Hypericum perforatum L. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture (PCTOC) 103*, 7-14.
- Muscolo, A., Sidari, M., Anastasi, U., Santonoceto, C., & Maggio, A. (2014). Effect of PEG-induced drought stress on seed germination of four lentil genotypes. *Journal of Plant Interactions 9*, 354-363.

- Naicker, N., Mathee, A., & Teare, J. (2015). Food insecurity in households in informal settlements in urban South Africa. SAMJ: South African Medical Journal 105, 268-270.
- Ngara R. (2009). A Proteomic analysis of drought and salt stress responsive proteins of different sorghum varieties (Doctoral dissertation, University of the Western Cape)
- Noctor G., & Foyer C.H. (1998). Ascorbate and glutathione: keeping an active oxygen under control. *Annual Review of Plant Biology* 49, 249-279.

Noctor, G., Veljovic-Jovanovic, S., & Foyer, C. H. (2000). Peroxide processing in photosynthesis: antioxidant coupling and redox signalling. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences 355*, 1465-1475.

- Nonami, H. (1998). Plant water relations and control of cell elongation at low water potentials. *Journal of Plant Research 111*, 373-382.
- Nuss, E. T., Arscott, S. A., Bresnahan, K., Pixley, K. V., Rocheford, T., Hotz,
 C., & Tanumihardjo, S. A. (2012). Comparative intake of white-versus orange-colored maize by Zambian children in the context of promotion of biofortified maize. *Food and nutrition bulletin 33*, 63-71.
- Nxele, X., Klein, A., & Ndimba, B. K. (2017). Drought and salinity stress alters ROS accumulation, water retention, and osmolyte content in sorghum plants. South African Journal of Botany 108, 261-266.

- **Obidiegwu, J. E., Bryan, G. J., Jones, H. G., & Prashar, A.** (2015). Coping with drought: stress and adaptive responses in potato and perspectives for improvement. *Frontiers in plant science 6*, 542.
- Oldewage-Theron, W. H., Dicks, E. G., & Napier, C. E. (2006). Poverty, household food insecurity and nutrition: coping strategies in an informal settlement in the Vaal Triangle, South Africa. *Public health 120*, 795-804.
- Pen Y, Wu LJ & Yu ZL (2005). Effect of salt and drought stress on antioxidant enzymes activities and SOD isoenzymes of liquorice (*Glycyrrhiza* uralensisFisch). Plant Growth Regulation 49, 157-165.
- Pinheiro, C., & Chaves, M. M. (2010). Photosynthesis and drought: can we make metabolic connections from available data? *Journal of Experimental Botany 62*, 869-882.
- Polidoros, A. N., & Scandalios, J. G. (1999). Role of hydrogen peroxide and different classes of antioxidants in the regulation of catalase and glutathione S-transferase gene expression in maize (Zea mays L.). *Physiologia Plantarum 106*, 112-120.
- **Poudyal, H., Panchal,S. K.,Waanders, J., Ward, L., & Brown, L.** (2012). Lipid redistribution by α-linolenic acid-rich chia seed inhibits stearoyl-CoA desaturase-1 and induces cardiac and hepatic protection in diet-

105

induced obese rats. *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry 23*, 153-162.

- Prabhakar, K. R., V. P. Veerapur, P. Bansal, V. K. Parihar, K. M. Reddy, P. B.
 Kumar, K. L. Priyadarsini and M. K. Unnikrishnan. 2007. Antioxidant
 and radioprotective effect of the active fraction of Pilea microphylla
 (L.) ethanolic extract. Chemical Biological Interactions 165, 22-32.
- Quan, L. J., Zhang, B., Shi, W. W., & Li, H. Y. (2008). Hydrogen peroxide in plants: a versatile molecule of the reactive oxygen species network. *Journal of Integrative Plant Biology* 50, 2-18.

- Ramakrishna, A., & Ravishankar, G. A. (2013). Role of plant metabolites in abiotic stress tolerance under changing climatic conditions with special reference to secondary compounds. *Climate Change and Plant Abiotic Stress Tolerance 17*, 705-726.
- Ray, M., Mishra, P., Das, P., & Sabat, S. C. (2012). Expression and purification of soluble bio-active rice plant catalase-A from recombinant *Escherichia coli*. *Journal of biotechnology* 157(1), 12-19.
- **Reddy, T. Y., Reddy, V. R., & Anbumozhi, V.** (2003). Physiological responses of groundnut (Arachis hypogea L.) to drought stress and its amelioration: a critical review. *Plant growth regulation 41*, 75-88.
- Reynolds, T. W., Waddington, S. R., Anderson, C. L., Chew, A., True, Z., & Cullen, A. (2015). Environmental impacts and constraints associated

with the production of major food crops in Sub-Saharan Africa and South Asia. *Food Security* 7, 795-822.

- Rhodes, D., Nadolska-Orczyk, A., & Rich, P. J. (2002). Salinity, osmolytes and compatible solutes. Salinity: Environment Plants Molecules 19,181-204.
- Saleh, A. M., Madany, M. M., & González, L. (2015). The effect of coumarin application on early growth and some physiological parameters in Faba Bean (Vicia faba L.). *Journal of Plant Growth Regulation 34*, 233-241.



Samantary, S. (2002). Biochemical responses of Cr-tolerant and Cr-sensitive mung bean cultivars grown on varying levels of chromium. *Chemosphere* 47, 1065-1072.

- Sanevas, N., Sunohara, Y., & Matsumoto, H. (2007). Characterization of reactive oxygen species-involved oxidative damage in Hapalosiphon species crude extract-treated wheat and onion roots. *Weed biology and management 7*, 172-177.
- Sargi, S. C., Silva, B. C., Santos, H. M. C., Montanher, P. F., Boeing, J. S., Júnior, S., & Visentainer, J. V. (2013). Antioxidant capacity and chemical composition in seeds rich in omega-3: chia, flax, and perilla. *Food Science and Technology (Campinas) 33*, 541-548.

- Sasson, A. (2012). Food security for Africa: an urgent global challenge. *Agriculture & Food Security 2012, 1,* 2.
- Sharma, P., Jha, A. B., Dubey, R. S., & Pessarakli, M. (2012). Reactive oxygen species, oxidative damage, and antioxidative defence mechanism in plants under stressful conditions. *Journal of Botany 36*, 1-27.
- Shigeoka, S., Ishikawa, T., Tamoi, M., Miyagawa, Y., Takeda, T., Yabuta, Y.,
 & Yoshimura, K. (2002). Regulation and function of ascorbate peroxidase isoenzymes. *Journal of experimental botany 53*, 1305-1319.



Shivakrishna, P., Reddy, K. A., & Rao, D. M. (2017). Effect of PEG-6000 imposed drought stress on RNA content, relative water content (RWC), and chlorophyll content in peanut leaves and roots. *Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences 25*, 285-289

- Shulaev, V., Cortes, D., Miller, G., & Mittler, R. (2008). Metabolomics for plant stress response. *Physiologia Plantarum*, *132*, 199-208.
- Simova-Stoilova, L., Fedina, I., Georgieva, K., & Kunert, K. (2010). Response of oryzacystatin I transformed tobacco plants to drought, heat and light stress. *Journal of agronomy and crop science 196*, 90-99.
- Singh, N., Mishra, A., & Jha, B. (2014). Over-expression of the peroxisomal ascorbate peroxidase (SbpAPX) gene cloned from halophyte

Salicornia brachiata confers salt and drought stress tolerance in transgenic tobacco. *Marine biotechnology 16*, 321-332.

- Sinha, S., & Saxena, R. (2006). Effect of iron on lipid peroxidation, and enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidants and bacoside-A content in medicinal plant Bacopa monnieri L. *Chemosphere* 62, 1340-1350.
- Skadsen, R. W., Schulze-Lefert, P., & Herbst, J. M. (1995). Molecular cloning, characterization and expression analysis of two catalase isozyme genes in barley. *Plant Molecular Biology* 29, 1005-1014.
- Skirycz, A., and Inzé, D. (2010). More from less: Plant growth under limited water. *Current Opinion Biotechnology 21*, 197–203.
- **Skorzynska-Polit, E.** (2007). Lipid peroxidation in plant cells, its physiological **UNIVERSITY** of the role and changes under heavy metal stress. *Acta Societatis Botanicorum Poloniae* 76, 49-54.
- Slama, I., Abdelly, C., Bouchereau, A., Flowers, T., & Savouré, A. (2015). Diversity, distribution and roles of osmoprotective compounds accumulated in halophytes under abiotic stress. *Annals of Botany 115*, 433-447.
- Smirnoff, N. & Wheeler, G. L. (2002). Antisense suppression of I-galactose dehydrogenase in Arabidopsis thaliana provides evidence for its role in ascorbate synthesis and reveals light modulated I-galactose synthesis. *The Plant Journal 30*, 541-553.

Sofo, A., Scopa, A., Nuzzaci, M., & Vitti, A. (2015). Ascorbate peroxidase and catalase activities and their genetic regulation in plants subjected to drought and salinity stresses. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences 16*, 13561-13578.

Soshinkova, T. N., Radyukina, N. L., Korolkova, D. V., & Nosov, A. V. (2013). Proline and functioning of the antioxidant system in *Thellungiella salsuginea* plants and cultured cells subjected to oxidative stress. *Russian journal of plant physiology 60*, 41-54.

- Stats, S. A. (2015). Methodological report on rebasing of national poverty lines and development of pilot provincial poverty lines.
- Suis, M. A. F., Ping, K. S., Keong, C. C., & Subramaniam, S. (2015). Biochemical and physiological responses to polyethylene glycol (PEG) treatment in protocorm-like bodies (PLBs) of Aranda Broga Blue Bell. Emirates Journal of Food and Agriculture 27, 776.
- Szilagyi, R. K., Bryngelson, P. A., Maroney, M. J., Hedman, B., Hodgson, K. O., & Solomon, E. I. (2003). S K-edge X-ray absorption spectroscopic investigation of the Ni-containing superoxide dismutase active site: new structural insight into the mechanism. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 126(10), 3018-3019.
- Tang, W., Zhou, X., Hao, T., Zhou, Y., Xiao, Y., Meng, X., & Fang, X. (2015). Relationships between antioxidant compounds and antioxidant

activities of tartary buckwheat during germination. *Journal of food science and technology 52,* 2458-2463.

- Tarkow, H., Feist, W. C., & Southerland, C. F. (1966). Interaction of wood with polymeric materials. Penetration versus molecular size. *For Production Journal 16*, 61-65.
- Tester, M., & Bacic, A. (2005). Abiotic stress tolerance in grasses. From model plants to crop plants. *Plant Physiology 137*, 791-793.
- Tilman, D., Fargione, J., Wolff, B., D'Antonio, C., Dobson, A., Howarth, R., ...
 - & Swackhamer, D. (2001). Forecasting agriculturally driven global

environmental change. Science 292, 281-284.

Timilsena YP, Adhikari R, Kasapis S & Adhikari B (2016). Molecular and UNIVERSITY of the

functional characteristics of purified gum from Australian chia seeds.

Carbohydrate Polymers 136, 128-136.

- Toscano, S., Romano, D., Tribulato, A., & Patanè, C. (2017). Effects of drought stress on seed germination of ornamental sunflowers. *Acta Physiologiae Plantarum 39*, 184.
- Tubiello, F. N., Soussana, J. F., & Howden, S. M. (2007). Crop and pasture response to climate change. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 104*, 19686-19690.
- Türkan, İ., Bor, M., Özdemir, F., & Koca, H. (2005). Differential responses of lipid peroxidation and antioxidants in the leaves of drought-tolerant

P. acutifolius Gray and drought-sensitive P. vulgaris L. subjected to polyethylene glycol mediated water stress. *Plant Science 168*, 223-231.

- Ullah, A., Sun, H., Yang, X., & Zhang, X. (2017). Drought coping strategies in cotton: increased crop per drop. *Plant biotechnology journal 15*, 271-284.
- Valcárcel-Yamani, B., & da Silva Lannes, S. C. (2012). Applications of quinoa (*Chenopodium quinoa* Willd.) and amaranth (*Amaranthus* Spp.) and their influence in the nutritional value of cereal based foods. *Food and Public Health 2*, 265-275.
- Van der Berg, L., & Zeng, Y. J. (2006). Response of South African indigenous grass species to drought stress induced by polyethylene glycol (PEG)

6000. South African Journal of Botany 72, 284-286.

- Van der Berg, S. (2006). Public spending and the poor since the transition to democracy. *Poverty and Policy in Post-Apartheid South Africa 9*, 201-231.
- Velikova, V., Yordanov, I., & Edreva, A. (2000). Oxidative stress and some antioxidant systems in acid rain-treated bean plants: protective role of exogenous polyamines. *Plant science 151*, 59-66.

- Verslues, P. E., Ober, E. S., & Sharp, R. E. (1998). Root growth and oxygen relations at low water potentials. Impact of oxygen availability in polyethylene glycol solutions. *Plant Physiology 116*, 1403-1412.
- Vierstra, R. D., John, T. R., & Poff, K. L. (1982). Kaempferol 3-o-galactoside, 7-o-rhamnoside is the major green fluorescing compound in the epidermis of Vicia faba. *Plant physiology 69*, 522-525.
- Vos, C. H. R., Schat, H., Waal, M. A. M., Vooijs, R., & Ernst, W. H. O. (1991). Increased resistance to copper-induced damage of the root cell plasmalemma in copper tolerant Silene cucubalus. *Physiologia Plantarum* 82, 523-528.
- Wallace, J. S., Acreman, M. C., & Sullivan, C. A. (2003). The sharing of water between society and ecosystems: from conflict to catchment–based co-management. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences 358*, 2011-2026.
- Wang, L. C., Saleem, M. F., Man, C., & Lei, W. (2010). Morphological, physiological and biochemical responses of plants to drought stress. *African Journal of Agricultural Research 6*, 2026-2032.
- Willekens, H., Langebartels, C., Tire, C., Van Montagu, M., Inze, D., & Van Camp, W. (1994). Differential expression of catalase genes in Nicotiana plumbaginifolia (L.). *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences 91, 10450-10454.

- Williams, J. T., & Haq, N. (2002). Global Research on Underutilised Crops. An Assessment of Current Activities and Proposals for Enhanced Cooperation. International Centre for Underutilised Crops, University of Southampton, United Kingdom.
- Yadav, S. K. (2010). Heavy metals toxicity in plants: an overview on the role of glutathione and phytochelatins in heavy metal stress tolerance of plants. *South African Journal of Botany 76*, 167-179.
- Yancey, P. H. (2010). Organic osmolytes as compatible, metabolic and counteracting cytoprotectants in high osmolarity and other stresses. *Journal of Experimental Biology 208*, 2819-2830.
- Zamocky, M., Koua, D., Margis-Pinheiro, M., Passardi, F., & Dunand, C. (2008). PeroxiBase: a powerful tool to collect and analyse peroxidase western cape sequences from Viridiplantae. *Journal of Experimental Botany 60*, 453-459.
- Zhang, F., Wang, Y., Lou, Z. and Dong, J. (2012) "Effect of heavy metal stress on antioxidative enzymes and lipid peroxidation in leaves and roots of twomangrove plant seedlings (*Kandelia candel* and *Bruguiera gymnorrhiza*)" Chemosphere 67: 45-50.
- Zhang, M., Li, G., Huang, W., Bi, T., Chen, G., Tang, Z., ... & Sun, W. (2010). Proteomic study of Carissa spinarum in response to combined heat and drought stress. *Proteomics 10*, 3117-3129.

- Zlatev, Z. S., Lidon, F. C., Ramalho, J. C., & Yordanov, I. T. (2006). Comparison of resistance to drought of three bean cultivars. *Biologia Plantarum 50* 389-394.
- Zorov, D. B., Juhaszova, M., & Sollott, S. J. (2014). Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species (ROS) and ROS-induced ROS release. *Physiological Reviews 94*, 909-950.



UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE